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FINANCIAL SUMMARY 81 7% #f &

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=t-BLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-EE —_Z-NF T\ —Z—tF —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET THT FET THET

Revenue PN 1,230,437 1,288,479 1,075,930 689,994 472,831
Gross Profit EF 411,492 434,440 342,289 216,253 138,387
Operating Profit R 25,374 78,820 68,796 33,072 16,822

Profit and total comprehensive ~ ARRQAFEA ABEENK
income attributable to owners 2HEKEHAE

of the Company 12,100 59,728 53,599 25,144 12,450

- As a percentage of revenue —EWAES L 1.0% 4.6% 5.0% 3.6% 2.6%
Earnings per share attributable to ZAQAREBEAEEER

owners of the Company 2R

- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EAR N EE GBI 1.2 7.4 7.1 NATER NATER
Dividend Per Share BRERE

— Final (HK cents) — R E (BL) NIL & 6.0 NIL & NIL & NIL £

Equity attributable to owners KATEEAER
of the Company

- Total equity — iR 306,682 369,582 93,184 39,585 14,441

REVENUE (HK$'000)
WA (FET)

2020

1,230,437
2019

1,288,479

2018

1,075,930
2017

689,994

2016 472,831
300,000 600,000 900,000 1,200,000 1,500,000

o

PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY (HK$°000)
ARAREEABGERNREZEBSABE (TET)

2020 [ 2100
2016 12,450
0 20,000 40,000 60,000 800,000
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT = [E 3 &

Dear Shareholders

For and on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | am
pleased to present the Group’s annual results for the financial
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”) to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”).

This has been an extremely challenging year for the Group.
Clouded by the uncertainness stemming from the ongoing
US-China trade tensions and the fluctuations in global financial
markets in the first half of year 2019, consumption and retail
sentiment was further dampened by the outburst of social
movement in Hong Kong in June 2019 and followed by the
severe contraction in private consumption expenditure as
the threat of novel coronavirus seriously disrupted the retail
industries.

Facing the harsh and unstable operating environment and
conditions, the Group managed to maintain its profitable
position for the financial year under review which was the
results of the Group's adapt to time adjustment of product
strategy, effective formulation of pricing policy, unity and
unremitting efforts of the management and all level of
employees and loyalty of the Group’s customers on the Group's
brand and products quality assurance. Despite there was
unprecedented shock on the conditions for operation during
the Year, the Group insisted to sticking together with its
employees and customers against the difficulties by no layoffs
of employees and to stringently control sourcing costs so as to
offering “Best Prices” and “Best Quality” to its customers.

BRIRIR

RAERKEMIOERERAR ([RA2T]
EREAMBARGE A& ES=(EE])
S ([EEE)RAARFRE (RR]) MARZ
AEEBE_Z_TF=-A=+—HILHEF
E(XRFEDNFERS -

HAKEMS  AFERBAUBN—F - &
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PrE— T8 - BEfR  TETEEYHEEMR
WEREMBRETE LABEXHBREES -

BN A RENEERERNAR - NEH
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BE By ) B 8 B EE A SRS - B I TE B AR UK -
EEENSEEEIRGA R THB NG
R tERBEAEER P HAEEMENES
HERENIHE BEAFELERRZE
RIAABNEE  EAEERSHETNER
HEHE BRHTHE - BBEHRBEA
AR SEFPRRHIEEIMIEEINER -
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT = [E g &

Looking ahead, it is anticipated that pessimistic business
sentiment and notable pressure on retail sector in Hong Kong
will span for considerable period of time in near term under
the continuous threat of novel coronavirus infection until it is
well-contained. Further, the possible reignition of the social
unrest in Hong Kong and the potential intensification of the
US-China trade tension and conflict are likely to continue
influence the consumption desirability and spending power of
the public. The management of the Group is well-prepared
to sail in economic headwinds and will strive to meticulously
and diligently optimize its operation policy, to implement
optimal cost control measures and to nourish the market needs
and demand instantly so as to offer quality and broad appeal
products at affordable prices with an aim to walking through
the economic recession with our customers. Notwithstanding
the process of outbound investment is temporarily slowed
down due to the pandemic, the management is confident that
the scheduled outbound investment will be the new catalyst for
the Group's future growth momentum and will swiftly resume
the expansion plan with cautious approach as and when

appropriate.

Rooted in Hong Kong and facing the Greater China Region, the
Group is in the process of acquiring an office premises in Hong
Kong for headquarter purpose for its long-term development.
The management believes that it is beneficial for the Group to
establish a head office in Hong Kong which, on one hand, will
serve as the Group’s management and administrative centre for
overseeing and manipulating its proposed development in the
Greater China Region in the future, and on the other hand, will
eliminate the Group’s rental for the leased office in Hong Kong
and any costs, time and efforts associated with the possible
office relocation.

To preserve the liquidity of the Group for counterbalancing the
risks and uncertainties for operation ahead, the Board did not
propose a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020.

RERK EFLUTRBESREANFERE
T B EATEXMEAYNAEMKLLEBER
BHEBNBERHARE -BREH BEER
SRR RIFES - I BELESBEA B
EIRE - MEPXBEZEREMBEL LA 800
Bl BB ETRNEESRIHEERS -
AEBMEEBC MG ERS  WEKEERTH
WM - WEBMNBMHAE BIEEHE
B ERAENER  REDEHEH R
NEBEENERREHEERARZREA
MEm BEPHAELEHR BEXREBF
E AEEBERREHINE BEEESR
B0 - GBI EIMRE N R AR KB R RIE &
WEB S WEEEERE  USENEE -
MR R EIBRAE -

YREE G ERATEMER RTEENRE
R AEBELEFEEBBERLEMESE
BB - BEEMRGE ERBERLABHAE
BAM  —THAERAKENEERTERF
D LB E R R R K 3 i [ A 3R Gt
g S EAERNAEEREEHEHARAE
WS AREFEAEETORAZTRER
AR - BRERE S -
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT = [E 3 &

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the Group’s
management team and employees for their efforts, contribution
and loyalties. My gratitude also goes to our Shareholders,
customers and business partners for their attentiveness, support
and trust.

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Lin Tsz Fung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S STATEMENT 1T Bl & &, 3R &

Dear Shareholders, colleagues and customers,

The retail industry in Hong Kong has been materially affected
by both internal and external factors during the financial
year under review. Apart from the prolonged US-China
trade conflict since the previous year, Hong Kong faced its
biggest societal crises and once-in-a century pandemic that
both dampened consumer sentiment and consumer traffic,
in particular, there was drastic drop of inbound tourists.
During this difficult time for Hong Kong retail business,
notwithstanding that the Group’s profit attributable to owners
reduced significantly for approximately 79.7% from that of
the last financial year, the Group managed to maintain a
profitable position which is attributed by hard work of the
management and all staff members. The Group highly treasures
the contribution of every staff member and is very confident
to overcome the hardship arising from the social unrest and
the novel coronavirus together with all staff members, thereby
creating better results for the Groups hand in hand.

OVERVIEW

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of the Group's retail
stores in Hong Kong was increased from 89 as at 31 March
2019 to 102. Despite the pace of local expansion of the Group
had been slowed down conscientiously in commensurate with
the market environment, the Group maintained a moderate
rate in opening new retail stores in Hong Kong during the
financial year ended 31 March 2020. It is the Group’s operating
strategy that premium retail stores in target location for the
Group’s retail stores should be suitably captured with relatively
bargainable rate of rental ahead of the foreseeable economic
rebound.

During the financial year under review, the Group's first
retail store in Macau was opened in December 2019 which
symbolized the business of the Group’s walking out of Hong
Kong. Being hindered by the border lockdown and travel
restrictions, the Group had passively decelerated its outbound
investment after the outburst of novel coronavirus in January
2020.

BBER  REMEE

RAMHRFER BEETEXZIAINERHAE
EXE RTBEEFHBEEESNTXES
AMash BAEBRANHLEEENIEF —
BHRIE SHEERMNBEERELERE
B EEARKRERERD EEEEET
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MR AN 2EASEEEEE2EBET
MBANE AEEFFRES—LEINE
B TREECEZBETIAREBALEHE
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B I E AR o

L
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ZEEMEBEH _ZT-NAF=A=1+—HHS89
RIENE102[ - BE AR E A ER K
RERAEBERREAEMIBREMME - 8
HE_Z_ZF=-A=+—HLEMBFE K
SEDERF\BABMEEEETERAIANTER
o AEBEKEREZANEKARRNEE
REZA > LB ERNES  @EMEEN
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REEVRFE  AEREERFINERTER
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S STATEMENT 1T EL & & 3R &

Having built stable collaborative relationships with the Group’s
global suppliers, the Group continues to identify new suppliers
to enrich its product range and product portfolio. During the
financial year under review, extra efforts had been input to
explore new suppliers to develop high-margin private label
products for the Group which, on one hand, successfully
characterizes unique proprietary brand image for the Group’s
products and, on the other hand, constructively steers
overall profit margin of the Group. Remarkable increase in
sales generated from the Group’s private label products was
achieved as a result of the greater emphasis of the Group on
developing and promoting private label products during the
financial year under review.

As the size of procurement grows with the increase of the
number of retail stores, the Group further strengthened the
economy in scale for its procurement that drives effective
maintenance of profit margin of the Group. Further, to cope
with the market needs, the Group had swiftly adjusted its
product strategy during the financial year under review by
introducing additional basic food and necessities for catering
the daily needs of the local community. The timely increase
in the supply of basic food, such as staple food and variety of
canned food, and anti-epidemic products, such as face masks
and hand sanitizers, at affordable prices by the Group not
only complemented the living of the local community in the
economic rescission and in the pandemic but also partly offset
the negative impact of losing inbound tourist's consumption
sustained by the Group.

Due to the drastic drop of inbound tourists, the Group had
successfully strived for rent concession in different degrees
from most of the landlords of retail stores of the Group that
mitigated the Group’s loss in the retail turmoil. The Group
sincerely appreciate and applaud their supports.

In the difficult times, the Group had not overlooked its social
responsibility in taking care of the vulnerable groups in the
society. To support their needs in the pandemic and to continue
to contribute to the well-being of the local community, face
masks and hand sanitizers had been donated by the Group
to the Hong Kong Council of Social Service at the worst of
the viral outbreak in February 2020 for distributing to the
vulnerable groups in the local community.

EEASENZREEBRRZLBEN S (FH
B ARBEESEHMOHER NEEH
EmBERALEMMES REBMEFE K&
BERABINS IDENOHtER  RAKE
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PROSPECT

Looking forward, it is anticipated that the retail sector in Hong
Kong will still be materially impacted by the uncertainties and
difficulties arising from the threat of novel coronavirus, the
possible societal disruptions and the ongoing US-China tension
and conflict. To confront these complicated operating risks
and hardship, the management of the Group will on one hand
concentrate in consolidating its core competencies in the supply
of broad appeal of products at competitive prices that suits
and fulfills the demand and expectation of customers which
is strictly adhering to the mission of the Group in providing
“Best Quality” and “Best Prices” to customers, and will, on
the other hand, continue to broaden retail coverage of Hong
Kong and Macau, with prudent approach and will plan to
exploit the market in the mainland China as soon as possible
once the pandemic is well-contained, with an aim to building
basis for the long-term growth of the Group. In June 2020, the
Group’s second retail store in Macau was opened which will
be followed by the third retail store in Macau to be opened in
July 2020. The outbound business expansion will be accelerated
when the pandemic is well-contained.

In order to further uplift shopping pleasures of customers
and enhance customer loyalties, we had launched a new
membership scheme in mid June 2020 to stimulate consumer
desirability of purchase. The Group will continuously improve
and optimise membership system and other operational systems
so as to further strengthen the Group’s core competitiveness in
the sector.

Lastly, heartfelt thanks to the management team and all level
of staff and employees for their dedicated contributions.

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Hui Chi Kwan
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEfE
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The Group is a leisure food retailer operating chain retail stores
under the brand “Best Mart 360° (f£43360°)". The Group offers
wide collection of imported prepackaged leisure foods and
other grocery products principally from overseas, which can be
broadly categorised into (i) confectioneries; (ii) packaged bakery
products and snacks; (iii) nuts and dried fruits; (iv) grain and
other miscellaneous food products; (v) beverages and wine;
(vi) personal care products; and (vii) other products, such as
baby food and products, health food and supplements and
miscellaneous household items, such as cleaning agents, table
ware and rain gear. It is the Group's business objective to offer
“Best Quality” and “Best Prices” products to the customers
through continuous efforts on global procurement with a
mission to provide comfortable shopping environment and
pleasurable shopping experience to its customers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the financial year under review, the Group faced and
tackled with extremely challenging business environment in
Hong Kong. Clouded by the economic uncertainties casted by
the elevated US-China trade tension in the first half of 2019,
the overall Hong Kong economy entered into recession in the
second half of 2019. The business environment was further
dampened by the occurrence of social movement in Hong
Kong since June 2019, which significantly eroded consumer
sentiment, disrupted the safe environment needed for people
contact and adversely affected sales generated from inbound
tourism. Economic environment in Hong Kong was further
underscored by the outbreak of the novel coronavirus in early
2020. The anti-epidemic measures and travel restrictions
implemented for controlling the coronavirus infection had
severely influenced consumption- related activities and further
weakened private consumption expenditure. As reported by the
Office of the Government Economist Financial Secretary’s Office
of the Hong Kong Government, retail sales volume declined
by 3.1% in the first half of 2019, and the year-on-year fall
in retail sales volume widened sharply to 19.5% in the third
quarter of 2019 and further to 24.1% in the fourth quarter
of 2019 which was the largest quarterly decline since data
were available in 1981. For year 2019 as a whole, the retail
sales volume fell by 12.3% which was the largest annual fall
since 1998. According to the retail sales figures released by
The Office of the Government Economist Financial Secretary’s
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Office of Hong Kong, the value of total retail sales for the
first three months of 2020 recorded consecutively decreases,
and the value of total retail sales for the first quarter of 2020
decreased by 36.9% as compared with the same period in
2019. Based on the monthly visitor arrival statistics released by
The Hong Kong Tourist Board, the arrival visitors of Hong Kong
during the period between January 2019 to December 2019
recorded a drop of 14.2% as compared with the same period
in 2018, and the number of total arrival visitors continuously
recorded significant decreases of 52.7%, 72.5% and 80.9% in
January, February and March 2020 as compared with the same
months in 2019, mainly due to the implementation of various
anti-epidemic measures, such as border closure and compulsory
quarantine measure which brought inbound tourism to a
standstill. The economic fallout therefore became even more
severe. The weakened local economy and local retail market
conditions, the occurrence of the social movement in Hong
Kong, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus and the significant
drop in inbound tourism had adversely affected the normal
business operation and business development plan of the
Group during the financial year under review.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenue recorded by
the Group amounted to approximately HK$1,230,437,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 4.5% as compared
to approximately HK$1,288,479,000 for the year ended 31
March 2019. Sales to walk-in customers from the general
public through its retail stores in Hong Kong and in The
Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) accounted
for approximately 99.6% of the revenue of the Group for
the financial year under review while bulk-sales to certain
bulk-purchase customers, such as corporate customers and
trading companies in the industry accounted for approximately
0.4% of the revenue of the Group for the financial year
under review. Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 was approximately HK$411,492,000, while gross
profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$434,440,000. The decrease in revenue was
mainly attributed to (i) the significant drop of sales to tourists
as a result of the drastic drop of inbound tourists due to the
social movement and the outbreak of the novel coronavirus;
and (ii) the overall drop of revenue in the chain retail stores of
the Group in Hong Kong due to the weakened economy and
retail market conditions.
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$12,100,000
(2019: approximately HK$59,728,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 79.7%. Such decrease in profit attributable
to owners of the Company was mainly attributable to the
occurrence of social movement in Hong Kong and the outbreak
of the novel coronavirus during the year ended 31 March
2020, which had both adversely affected the normal business
operation of the retail stores of the Group and leading to
the substantial drop of profit attributable to owners of the
Company. In particular, the sales performance of the retail
stores targeted on inbound tourists recorded material drawback
due to the drastic reduction of inbound tourists since the
outbreak of social movement in Hong Kong in June 2019
which continued to deteriorate after the implementation of
border lockdown and travel restrictions since the outbreak
of novel coronavirus infection in January 2020. Further, the
majority of new retail stores opened in the financial year
under review required a comparatively longer period to getting
on track or achieving breakeven and/or investment payback
under the harsh retail environment. Netting off the interest
expenses on lease liabilities of approximately HK$8,350,000
incurred pursuant to the adoption of new Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 16 “Leases” on 1 April 2019
by the Group which did not occur for the year ended 31
March 2019, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2020 would be approximately
HK$20,450,000, representing a decrease of approximately
65.8% from that of approximately HK$59,728,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2019. The new accounting treatment of
the leases for retail stores and offices resulted in an additional
charge before tax of approximately HK$8,401,000 for the
financial year under review as compared with the rental
expenses under the old standard HKAS 17.

During the financial year under review, the same store sales
performance recorded a decrease of approximately 18.6%
mainly attributable to (i) the adverse effects of the social
movement and the outbreak of novel coronavirus on the
normal operation of the retail stores, including the reduction
of customer flow; and (ii) the weakened consumer sentiment
which led to reduction in private consumption expenditure.
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During the financial year under review, gross profit margin of
the Group was approximately 33.4%, representing a slight
decrease of approximately 0.3 percentage points as compared
with approximately 33.7% for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Despite the overall deteriorating economic environment, the
Group's gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2020
hovered at a similar level to that of the gross profit margin for
the year ended 31 March 2019 which was mainly attributed to
(i) an attainment of effective control on sourcing cost of the
Group’s products; (ii) the ability to implement effective pricing
policy by the Group in accordance with the market condition;
and (iii) the effective product structure adjustment adopted by

the Group in commensurate with the market demand.

Chain Retail Stores

As at 31 March 2020, the Group operated a total of 103 chain
retail stores, including 102 chain retail stores in Hong Kong
(as at 31 March 2019: 89) and one retail store in Macau (as
at 31 March 2019: 0). During the financial year under review,
the Group opened 22 new stores (including one new store
in Macau) and closed eight retail stores in Hong Kong mainly
due to consolidation of business of stores in proximity or upon
expiration of the respective lease term. As at 31 March 2020,
the 102 retail stores of the Group in Hong Kong consisting
of 19 retail stores located in Hong Kong lIsland, 39 retail
stores located in Kowloon and 44 retail stores located in New
Territories and 41 retail stores situated at street-level, 54 retail
stores situated at shopping arcades of community or residential
districts and seven retail stores situated at various traffic hubs
that are easily accessible by tourists, which spanned over all of
the 18 districts in Hong Kong. Rental expense for retail stores
was approximately HK$162,869,000 for the year ended 31
March 2020, representing an increase of approximately 22.5%
as compared with approximately HK$132,919,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The typical saleable area of the Group’s
retail stores is in the range of approximately 402 square feet
to 3,070 square feet. The average monthly rental for the year
ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$141.0 per square
feet, representing an increase of approximately 8.1% when
compared with approximately HK$130.4 per square feet for the
year ended 31 March 2019. The percentage of rental expense
of retail stores to sales revenue for the year ended 31 March
2020 was approximately 13.2%, which was higher than that
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of approximately 10.3% for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The major reason for the increase of the percentage of rental
expense of retail stores to sales revenue was the overall drop of
revenue in the chain retail stores of the Group in Hong Kong
due to the occurrence of social movement and the outbreak
of novel coronavirus and the weakened economy and retail
market conditions.

In response to the deterioration in the overall business
environment subsequent to the outbreak of social movement
in Hong Kong and the outburst of novel coronavirus infection,
the Group had applied for rate concession from its landlords
and had received offers for short term rental reduction ranging
from approximately 3.6% to 60.0% for the period ranging
from one month to six months from most of the landlords of
the Group which partly lower the rental burden of the Group in
the social upheaval and the impact of the pandemic.

Employees

Employees are crucial to the sustainable development of the
Group’s business, in particular, front-line staffs constituted
material labour force to the Group’s retail business. The Group
managed to maintain full-time employees at a similar level to
that of the year ended 31 March 2019 amidst the challenging
business environment. As at 31 March 2020, the total number
of employees of the Group was 694 employees, which,
excluding five Directors, comprised of 548 full-time employees
and 141 part-time employees, while the total number of
employees of the Group as at 31 March 2019 was 728
employees, which, excluding five Directors, comprised of 538
full-time employees and 185 part-time employees. In order to
retain talented and skilled labour force and suitably incentivized
our employees so as to increase cohesion and loyalty amongst
the Group’s employees, the Group regularly reviewed and
refreshed employee benefit scheme and remuneration
packages with reference to labour market supply and the
trend of labour costs and based on the individual performance
of the employees. The staff costs (excluding the Directors’
emoluments) for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$134,973,000 (2019: approximately
HK$119,373,000), representing an increase of approximately
13.1% from that of the year ended 31 March 2019. The staff
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costs (excluding the Directors’ emoluments) for the year ended
31 March 2020 represented approximately 11.0% of the
revenue of the Group in the financial year under review while
the staff costs (excluding the Directors’ emoluments) for the
year ended 31 March 2019 represented approximately 9.3% of
the revenue of the Group in the corresponding year, amongst
which the staff cost of frontline and warehouse staff (including
basic salary, commission and other benefits) took around 7.0%
and 8.9% of the revenue for each of the year ended 31 March
2019 and 31 March 2020 respectively. The increase of ratio
in the staff cost to the Group’s revenue was principally due
to (i) yearly upward adjustment of salary to employees by the
Group in accordance with labour market condition in the first
quarter of the financial year under review; (i) the payment
of discretionary year-end bonus by the Group to employees
during the financial year under review; (iii) the payment of
one-off bonus by the Group to certain senior management and
employees participating in the listing of the Company’s shares
(“Shares”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”); (iv) the expansion of marketing team of
the Group; and (v) the underperforming revenue of the retail
stores.

The Products

During the financial year under review, the Group continued
its global procurement policy and mission by sourcing broad
spectrum of products worldwide that meet and satisfy the
market trend and demand. To better cater the daily necessities
of the local community in the social upheaval and anti-epidemic
period, the Group had suitably adjusted its product structure
by introducing additional basic food and essentials, such as
high quality staple food and convenience food, including
rice and pasta, breakfast cereals, canned food, sauces and
condiments and toilet rolls etc. that better suits the daily needs
of consumers in the local community and other epidemic
prevention supplies, such as face masks and hand sanitizer.
Further, during the financial year under review the Group also
strengthened the focus on the supply of popular products and
eliminated certain relatively underperforming products from
shelves.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group offers a total of
3,341 SKUs of products (for the year ended 31 March 2019:
3,261 SKUs) from suppliers principally from overseas markets,
such as Japan, Europe, the United States, Korea and countries
in the South East Asia, and brand owners or importers in
Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 March 2020, approximately
43.8% of the products were procured from suppliers and brand
owners or importers in Hong Kong (for the year ended 31
March 2019: approximately 41.5%), while the share of import
products from Japan, Europe and the United States amounted
to approximately 14.5%, 13.8% and 9.0% respectively of
the whole procurement (for the year ended 31 March 2019:
approximately 16.4%, 13.9% and 10.7% respectively).

As at 31 March 2020, the total inventories of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$135,755,000 (2019:
approximately HK$132,839,000), representing only a slight
increase of approximately 2.2% under the volatile market
condition which was the result of effective and stringent
control of stocking during the financial year under review.

During the financial year under review, the Group continued to
actively develop private label products that on one hand allow
the Group to capture advantages of pricing and exercise higher
level of quality control on its products and on the other hand
further uplift its brand awareness and strengthen customers’
loyalty. For the year ended 31 March 2020, sales derived from
private label products was approximately HK$47,658,000 (for
the year ended 31 March 2019: approximately HK$6,762,000),
representing a significant increase of approximately 604.8%
from that of last financial year and representing approximately
3.9% of the revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 (for the year ended 31 March 2019: approximately
0.5%). During the financial year under review, the Group had
launched an aggregate of 31 new private label products. As at
the date of this report, the Group has launched various kind of
private label products, including wet tissues, chestnuts, canned
abalone, organic grains, miscellaneous dried fruits, aloe gel,
beef jerky, pork jerky and various kinds of mixed nuts.
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Membership Scheme

Given that the retail business of the Group is a consumer driven
business, the Group placed substantial efforts in developing
and reinforcing its customer base. To this end, the Group
established and maintained a membership scheme since April
2015 in order to promote consumer loyalty, stimulate sales
and further expand customer base. Through the membership
scheme that serves as an effective communication channel that
disseminate the Group’s marketing and promoting activities
from time to time promptly and swiftly to the members
and provides incentives and special promotional offers on
designated products exclusively to members, the Group is, on
one hand, able to foster the ties and collaborations between
members and the Group and on the other hand, to procure
more recurring business and thereby maintain sustainable
growth of the Group’s business. To further popularise and
elevate the Group’s brand positioning and brand recognition
in the market and further expand members’ coverage of the
Group, the Group launched its mobile app in March 2019 to
strengthen its capability in instant messaging as communication
channel with the public and its members.

During the financial year under review, the number of the
Group’s members increased from approximately 1,268,000 as
at 31 March 2019 to approximately 1,379,000 as at 31 March
2020, representing an increase of approximately 8.8%. Since
the launch of the mobile app in March 2019, approximately
198,000 members had been registered through the Group’s

mobile app up to 31 March 2020.

Other Business Development

To pursue the Group’s long-term development plan in “New
Retail Era” which is characterized by the widespread use of
technologies during the financial year under review, the Group
opened its first WeChat Pay Smart Store at New Mandarin
Plaza, Tsimshatsui East (“WeChat Pay Smart Store”), which
was the first WeChat Pay Smart retail store for souvenir in
Hong Kong authorized and recognized by Tenpay Payment
(BB MR BER A R),

wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent Holdings Limited and

Technology Co. Ltd. an indirect

launched two WeChat Mini Programs by the Group, i.e. “&
IR TERE " (Best Mart Scan & Go), which integrated WeChat
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Mini Program as payment mechanism and turn customers’
mobile devices (such as smart phones and tablet computers)
into virtual checkout counters, and “E&% " (Best Mart
Card), a Mini Program which provides e-gift cards services
to WeChat customers. Further, CIAO International Limited
("CIAO"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the”WeChat Pay Partner Program Agreement” (“Partner
Program Agreement”) in July 2019 with Tenpay, pursuant
to which CIAO will integrate WeChat Pay services in all of the
Group’s retail stores in Hong Kong and promote WeChat Pay
to its customers, while Tenpay will provide integrated supports
to CIAO in marketing activities, "Moments” advertisement,
promotion in overseas mini programs (platform for traffic
increase). Notwithstanding that the digitalization process of
the Group’s retail operation had not achieved remarkable
accomplishment as expected during the financial year under
review due to the volatile and unfavorable retail sentiment
in social upheaval and the impact on consumption sentiment
under the novel coronavirus situation, the management
believes that digitalization in retail business will be the general
trend of the sector in the future and the continuous drive on
digitalized business will diversify the customers’ coverage of the
Group and will uplift the Group’s competitiveness in the retail
sector in the long run.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 12
June 2019, the Company has established a wholly-owned
subsidiary, namely, Best Mart 360 Macau Limited (2360
SBPSAME /AT in Macau in June 2019. The first retail store
of the Group in Macau was opened on 17 December 2019.
Further, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 December 2019, the Company has established a
wholly foreign-owned enterprise, namely, FIIMERE2ESE
BB /ATF (Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce Limited) in
Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") in December
2019. However, the outbound development and expansion
plan of the Group had been temporarily slowed down due to
the social distancing measure and lockdown of borders and
travel restrictions since the outburst of coronavirus pandemic in
January 2020.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Hong Kong economic environment
and retail business environment is expected to remain
highly challenging and uncertain due to both internal and
external factors. On the one hand, the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus in Hong Kong and around the world and the
anti-epidemic and restrictions implemented by the Hong
Kong government and foreign governments including border
shutdowns and travel restrictions, have materially halted social
and commercial activities for a prolonged period which is
expected to span until the novel coronavirus is well-contained,
and have posed an unprecedented adverse impact on the
domestic and global economy. On the other hand, the
concern that the social movement and unrest in Hong Kong
may resume or intensify posed further uncertainties to the
domestic business environment. Further, although the United
States-China Phase | trade deal was signed in January 2020,
the tension and conflict between United States and China
remained intense and unresolved. As announced by the
Financial Secretary on 29 April 2020, in view of the severe
global economic impact of the novel coronavirus pandemic, the
real GDP growth forecast for 2020 was revised to between -4%
to -7%. According to the quarterly Hong Kong Macroeconomic
Forecast released by the APEC Studies Programme of the Hong
Kong Institute of Economics and Business Strategy at the
University of Hong Kong in April 2020, GDP of Hong Kong is
forecasted to shrink by 3% for the year 2020 as a whole.

Facing such challenging economic environment and operating
uncertainties ahead, the Group will approach the financial year
ending 31 March 2021 with utmost caution and will closely
monitor the development of unfavorable factors affecting
operation of the Group so as to promptly implement necessary
and appropriate business measures to mitigate their adverse
impacts on the Group’s business operation. To cope with the
difficult time, the Group will continuously strive to reinforce its
core competitiveness in Hong Kong market by optimizing its
product structure to suit the market needs and demand in the
unstable economic and retail environment, including to further
explore the possibilities to expand the Group’s product range
to cover additional basic food and essentials and to further
develop the Group’s private label products that enrich the
choices of the Group’s customers. In combating the economic
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recession threatening the retail environment, the Group
will adhere to its business mission in offering “Best prices”
and “Best quality” to its customers. To further promote and
strengthen consumer loyalty and stimulate sales, the Group
has launched a new membership mobile app in June 2020 with
new membership tier and new function that is expected to
further uplift the shopping pleasure to the Group’s customers.
Further,

opened on 15 June 2020. It is expected that the Group’s third

the second Macau retail store of the Group was

retail store in Macau will be opened in July 2020. The Group's
outbound investment will be actualized in full gear once the
pandemic is well-contained and while the border lockdown
and travel restrictions are gradually eased. The management
of the Group is confident to work closely with its employees,
customers and other stakeholders to overcome the threatening
operation environment so as to create satisfactory return to the
Group’s shareholders and to give back to the supports of the
Group’s employees, customers and other stakeholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the financial year under review, the revenue of
the Group mainly represented the retail sales to walk-in
customers from the general public through its retail stores in
Hong Kong and Macau which accounted for approximately
99.6% of the revenue of the Group while the bulk-sales to
certain bulk-purchase customers accounted for approximately
0.4% of the revenue of the Group. For the year ended 31
March 2020, the revenue of the Group was approximately
HK$1,230,437,000, representing a decrease of approximately
4.5% as compared to approximately HK$1,288,479,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2019. The decrease in revenue was
mainly attributed to (i) the significant drop of sales to tourists
as a result of the drastic drop of inbound tourists due to the
social movement and the outbreak of the novel coronavirus;
and (ii) the overall drop of revenue in the chain retail stores of
the Group in Hong Kong due to the weakened economy and
retail market conditions.
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Profit for the Year

Profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
amounted to approximately HK$12,100,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 79.7% from approximately
HK$59,728,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019. Net profit
margin before interest and tax for the year ended 31 March
2020 was approximately 2.1%, while the net profit margin
before interest and tax for the year ended 31 March 2019
was approximately 6.1%. The decrease in profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020
as compared to that of the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the decrease of the net profit margin before interest and tax
for the year ended 31 March 2020 were mainly attributable
to the occurrence of social movement in Hong Kong and the
outbreak of the novel coronavirus during the year ended 31
March 2020, which had both adversely affected the normal
business operation of the retail stores of the Group and leading
to the substantial drop of revenue and profit attributable to
owners of the Company. In particular, the sales performance of
the retail stores targeted on inbound tourists recorded material
drawback due to the drastic reduction of inbound tourists
since the outbreak of social movement in Hong Kong in June
2019 which continued to deteriorate after the implementation
of border lockdown and travel restrictions since the outbreak
of novel coronavirus infection in January 2020. Further, the
majority of new retail stores opened in the financial year under
review required a comparatively longer period to getting on
track or achieving breakeven and/or investment payback under
the harsh retail environment. Netting off the interest expenses
on lease liabilities of approximately HK$8,350,000 incurred
pursuant to the adoption of new HKFRS 16 “Leases” on 1 April
2019 by the Group which did not occur for the year ended 31
March 2019, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2020 would be HK$20,450,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 65.8% from that of
approximately HK$59,728,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019. The new accounting treatment of the leases for retail
stores and offices resulted in an additional charge before tax
of approximately HK$8,401,000 for the financial year under
review as compared with the rental expenses under the old
standard HKAS 17.
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Cost of Sales

During the financial year under review, the cost of sales
represented the cost of inventories sold which was affected
by a number of factors, such as the prevailing market
conditions, the volume of orders and the type of products.
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the cost of sales of the
Group was approximately HK$818,945,000,
decrease of approximately 4.1% as compared to approximately
HK$854,039,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019. The

decrease in cost of sales was generally in line with the decrease

representing a

in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the gross profit of
the Group was approximately HK$411,492,000 (2019:
approximately HK$434,440,000),
of approximately 5.3%, while the gross profit margin was

representing a decrease

approximately 33.4% (2019: approximately 33.7%). The
Group's gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2020
hovered at a similar level to that of the gross profit margin for
the year ended 31 March 2019 which was mainly attributed to
(i) an attainment of effective control on sourcing cost of the
Group’s products; (ii) the ability to implement effective pricing
by the Group in accordance with the market conditions; and
(iii) the effective product structure adjustment adopted by the
Group in commensurate with the market demand.

Other Income and Other Gains/Losses, Net

For the year ended 31 March 2020, other income and other
gains, net of the Group recorded a gain of approximately
HK$5,301,000, while the other income and other losses, net
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 recorded a
loss of approximately HK$104,000. During the year ended
31 March 2020, the other income and other net gains was
mainly the combined results of: (i) interest income from bank
deposits; (ii) net loss on written-off/disposals of property, plant
and equipment; and (iii) the grant of HK$3,000,000 under
the Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme of the Anti-Epidemic Fund
launched by the Hong Kong Government in February 2020.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2020, selling and distribution
expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$347,906,000, representing an increase of approximately
16.7% from approximately HK$298,030,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The increase in selling and distribution
expenses was mainly due to (i) the increase of rental expenses
for opening additional or new retail stores in Hong Kong and
Macau; (ii) the increase of other expenses associated with
opening additional or new retail stores, such as payment of
management fees and government rent and rates, purchase
of equipments for shop operations, real estate agency fees for
shop location identification; (iii) the increase of logistic fees due
to the increase of the number of retail stores in Hong Kong and
the upward adjustment of logistic fees; and (iv) the increase in
salaries and wages for front-line staff due to the increase of
number of retail stores.

Further, the new HKFRS 16 “Leases” was adopted by the
Group with effect from 1 April 2019. HKFRS 16
changes the accounting method for the Group’s operating

"Leases”

leases including all leased retail stores and offices with lease
period of over one year. Before the adoption of this new
accounting standard, all lease-related costs for the retail stores
were charged to selling and distribution expenses. With the
adoption of HKFRS 16 "Leases”

lease period of over one year are recognized as right-of-use

, leases for retail stores with

assets which amounted to approximately HK$210,622,000 and
lease liabilities amounted to approximately HK$220,571,000
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2020.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest expenses on
lease liabilities for the retail stores are being charged to selling
and distribution expenses and finance costs respectively.
The new accounting treatment of the leases for retail stores
resulted in an additional charge before tax of approximately
HK$8,327,000 for the financial year under review as compared
with the rental expenses under the old standard HKAS 17.
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Administrative and Other Expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2020, administrative and
other expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$43,513,000, representing a decrease of approximately
24.3% from approximately HK$57,486,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The decrease in administrative and
other expenses was mainly a shortfall of the balance between
the one-off non-recurring listing expenses of approximately
HK$18,285,000 incurred for the year ended 31 March 2019
which did not occur for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
the professional fees of approximately HK$3,468,500 incurred
incidental to the listed status of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Further, before the adoption of this new accounting standard,
all lease-related costs for the offices were charged to
administrative and other expenses. With the adoption of HKFRS
16 “Leases”, leases for offices with lease period of over one
year are recognized as right-of-use assets which amounted to
approximately HK$6,041,000 and lease liabilities amounted
to approximately HK$6,211,000 in the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 March 2020. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets and interest expenses on lease liabilities for the offices
are being charged to administrative and other expenses and
finance costs respectively. The new accounting treatment of the
leases for offices resulted in an additional charge before tax of
approximately HK$74,000 for the financial year under review
as compared with the rental expenses under the old standard
HKAS 17.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
amounted to approximately HK$11,061,000, representing
an increase of approximately 224.8% from approximately
HK$3,405,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019. The increase
in finance costs was mainly attributed to the charge of interest
expenses on lease liabilities of approximately HK$8,350,000 to
finance costs pursuant to the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases”

for the financial year under review.
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Income Tax Expenses

The income tax expenses of Group decreased from
approximately HK$15,687,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$2,213,000 for the year ended 31
March 2020, representing a decrease of approximately 85.9%
which was in line with the decrease of assessable profit of an
operating subsidiary of the Group.

Financial Position, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’'s total cash and bank
balances (including cash and cash equivalents and restricted
bank deposits) were approximately HK$215,911,000 (2019:
HK$277,394,000), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$61,483,000 which was mainly due to (i) the payment of
final dividend totally amounting to HK$60,000,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (“Final Dividend”) in August 2019;
and (ii) the payment of interim dividend totally amounting to
HK$15,000,000 for the six months ended 30 September 2019
(“Interim Dividend”) in December 2019. The current ratio
(calculated by current assets divided by current liabilities) of the
Group decreased from approximately 4.7 times as at 31 March
2019 to approximately 1.6 times as at 31 March 2020.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020 was
approximately 32.5% as compared to that of approximately
20.0% as at 31 March 2019, which was calculated by the total
debts divided by the total equity at the end of the year and
multiplied by 100%. The total debts of the Group refer to bank
borrowings. The increase in gearing ratio was mainly due to
the increase in bank borrowings for general working capital
and the decrease in total equity after the payment of the Final
Dividend and the Interim Dividend.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has total bank borrowings
of approximately HK$99,542,000,
of approximately 34.9% as compared with approximately
HK$73,775,000 as at 31 March 2019. The total unutilised
banking facility extended by commercial banks as at 31 March
2020 amounted to approximately HK$152,080,000. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated

representing an increase

in Hong Kong dollars, secured and approximate to their fair
value.
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The overview of the Group’s cash flow for the year ended 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019 respectively are set out as
follows:

REBMBE-_E-_TE=-/f=+—AK -
—NEFE=A=1+—HLEFEMNBRSRE/MIIW
T

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t-HLHEE

2020 2019

—E-EHF —E-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FAET

Net cash generated from operating activities #& X iFFTISIR®/F5 115,087 37,081

Net cash used in investing activities WEREFIAR 295 (9,315) (12,154)

Net cash (used in)/generated from BEER (FTA),/

financing activities FriSIR & 558 (162,140) 219,584
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReEMBEEEIER

cash equivalents CRLA) /& hnF (56,368) 244,511

The Group financed its liquidity and working capital
requirements through a combination of various sources,
including but not limited to cash generated from the Group’s
operations, bank borrowings, net proceeds from the Share
Offer (as defined below), and other external equity and debt
financings as and when appropriate.

Operating Lease Commitments and Other Commitments

The Group’s operating lease commitments and other
commitments represent minimum lease payments due from
the Group as lessee of rental premises under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of the offices, retail stores and
service fees payable for the warehouses. The Group’'s other
commitments amounted to approximately HK$8,537,000
(2019: operating lease commitments and other commitments
amount to approximately HK$202,642,000) as at 31 March
2020.
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Capital Structure

The Shares were successfully listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 January 2019 by way of share offer
(“Share Offer”). Since then, there has been no change in the
capital structure of the Company. The capital structure of the
Company comprises of issued share capital and reserves. As at
31 March 2020, the Company had 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue.

Capital Commitments

Details of the capital commitments are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s banking facilities were
granted to an operating subsidiary of the Group and were
secured by corporate guarantees provided by the Company
and an operating subsidiary of the Group (“Corporate
Guarantee”) (2019: approximately HK$5,115,000 of bank
deposits and Corporate Guarantee).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk from the purchase of products from various
overseas suppliers mainly from the United States, Europe
and Japan, which purchases are primarily settled in foreign
currencies. Nevertheless, taking into account the retail industry
practice and the Group’s current operation, the Directors do
not consider the Group is subject to material foreign exchange
risk. The Group will take proactive measures and monitor

closely of its exposure to such currency movement.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts prudent treasury management policies
and does not engage in any highly leveraged or speculative
derivative products. Cash balances are mostly placed in Hong
Kong dollars bank deposit with appropriate maturity period for
meeting future funding requirements.
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¥ & DA

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 11 January
2019. The net proceeds from the Share Offer (“Net Proceeds”)
amounted to approximately HK$213.7 million (after deducting
the underwriting fees and related expenses).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
the
Board resolved to change the use of part of the unutilised

15 January 2020 (“Proceeds Use Announcement”),

Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$30.0 million allocated
for opening of new retail stores in Hong Kong to outbound
investment (including but not limited to the expansion of
the retail business of the Group in Macau and in the PRC

RO BENFERAMAR
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Mo REBNDEBEEMMBREFE([FEBRE
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Mainland).

As at 31

been utilised. Set out below is the breakdown of the use of the

March 2020, approximately HK$79.4 million
(representing approximately 37.2% of the Net Proceeds) had

Net Proceeds up to 31 March 2020:

Original amount
of Net Proceeds

ER:OJIECEA

Revised allocation

RZZE—ZEF=ZA=Z=+—-—BCHAY
79,400,000 T (MHER TS RNIEBEFHELY
37.2%) c NREFIEE-E-_EF=A=1+—

HFEEN IR

of Net Proceeds Amount of Unutilised
(as disclosed in Net Proceeds amount of
the Proceeds Use used up to  Net Proceeds up

allocated  Announcement) 31 March 2020 to 31 March 2020
approximately approximately approximately approximately
RIETAEM BE_Z_%f BE_T_%&
FBREFE ZA=+-H ZA=+-EH
EEAEN (NFABRERAES EBRNFAE ABRANFRE
FEREFE DNEFRE) HEFE REFE
(#4) (#8) (B#8) (#E49)
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$ ' million
BEAET BERT BEAET BEAT
Specific use of Net Proceeds FTEFIEREMN
BERRE
(A)  Opening of new retail A REERR 1421 112.1 52.8 59.3
stores in Hong Kong MTEES
(B)  Intensifying and B) MEREATS 28.9 28.9 7.5 214
broadening marketing EHENE
efforts
(C)  Upgrading information  (C) 1RAZAREK 21.6 21.6 47 16.9
technology systems ES
(D)  General working capital (D) —REEEZES 21.1 211 14.0 7.1
(E)  Outbound investment (F) ¥9MEE - 30.0 0.4 29.6
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As at 31 March 2020, approximately HK$134.3 million
(representing approximately 62.8% of the Net Proceeds)
had not yet been utilized. It is expected that the remaining
Net Proceeds will be fully utilised by 2022 in accordance
with the revised intended use as stated in the Proceeds Use

Announcement.

The unutilised Net Proceeds have been placed as time deposits
or bank balances with licensed banks in Hong Kong as at the
date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, excluding five Directors, the Group
employed a total of 548 (2019: 538) full-time employees
and 141 (2019:
excluding Directors’ emoluments, of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$134,973,000
(2019: approximately HK$119,373,000).
adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) on

185) part-time employees. The staff costs,

The Company has

18 December 2018 for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to the participants for their contributions to the Group.
As at the date of this report, no option has been granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

The remuneration policy of the Group to reward the employees
is based on their performance, qualifications, experience
and competence. Remuneration package typically comprises
salary, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary annual
bonus, performance-related bonus, sales target bonus and
miscellaneous duties-related allowances. The Group conducts
annual review on the performance of the employees and
make reference to such performance review for assessing
discretionary annual bonus, salary adjustments and promotion
appraisals. The remuneration package of the executive Directors
and the senior management is determined with reference to
those paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
performance of the Directors and senior management, as well
as the performance of the Group. A remuneration committee
is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and
structure of all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group with reference to their experience,
responsibilities, workload and time devoted to the Group and
performance of the Group.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material investments during the year ended 31 March 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals during the year ended 31
March 2020.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets as at 31 March
2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK6.0 cents per
share).
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CLOSURE OF SHARE REGISTER FOR AGM

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on Tuesday, 18 August 2020 (the "AGM"), the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 13
August 2020 to Tuesday, 18 August 2020 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 12 August 2020.

Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Since the outburst of novel coronavirus in January 2020, the
global economy continues to experience sharp contraction
despite the massive monetary and fiscal support measures
from central banks and governments worldwide. Despite the
Hong Kong Government launched various relief measures in
minimizing the impacts of the epidemic on local economy
and for supporting the recovery of domestic economy which
the Group has been granted HK$15,965,508 wage subsidies
under the first tranche of the Employment Support Scheme
("Employment Support Scheme”) launched by the Hong
Kong Government, and is expected to entitle for further
wage subsidies under the second tranche of the Employment
Support Scheme, it is expected that the economic activities
will take time to fully recover and the process of recovery will
be dependent, amongst other factors, on the epidemic being
well-contained in Hong Kong, the Greater China region and
globally. Hence, the time duration and scope of the disruptions
from the novel coronavirus infection cannot be accurately
assessed at this point of time. Such disruptions, if continue,
will inevitably affect the Group’s subsequent operation
performance.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement on 22 May 2020
("Acquisition Announcement”), the Group had entered into
a provisional sale and purchase agreement to conditionally
acquire the entire issued shares of Allied Wide Limited (“Target
Company”) which holds an office premises situated at “Offices
Nos.1, 2, 3, 5,6,7,8,9,10, 11, 12, 15 and 16 on 11th Floor
and Car Parking Spaces Nos.P59, P60 and P65 on the 3rd Floor,
C-Bons International Center, No.108 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon,
Hong Kong” and relating shareholders’ loans extended to
the Target Company (“Acquisition”) for a consideration of
HK$176,862,000. Subject to the completion of the Acquisition,
the Target Company will become an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and the financial results, assets and
liabilities of the Target Company will be consolidated into the
accounts of the Group. For further details of the Acquisition,

please refer to the Acquisition Announcement.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since 31 March
2020 and up to the date of this report.
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Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (#kFI£), aged 48, one of the founders
of the Group, is the chairman and was appointed as an
executive Director on 24 January 2018. Mr. Lin is also one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lin is
primarily responsible for formulating the Group’s strategic
planning and overall business development and overseeing
overall management and operation of the Group. Mr. Lin is
also a director of the subsidiaries of the Company, i.e. CIAO
International Limited, Quality Food 360° (Holdings) Limited, Best
Mart 360 International Limited, Best Mart 360 Macau Holdings
Limited, Best Mart 360 Macau Limited, Best Mart 360 China
Holdings Limited, Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Limited, /Z#YI&
mERETEEAR AT (Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce
Limited) and Abundant Year International Limited. Mr. Lin has
accumulated over 22 years of experience in retail and wholesale
businesses.

Mr. Lin was a member of the 11th Qing Hai Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (FEIAR
BUAHEg®ESE T —JE5/EEZEE). He was appointed as a
director of The Hong Kong Fujian Charitable Education Fund
(BEREFLTREESSE) since 2014, a permanent honorary
president of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations
Limited (BB RETEBEE AR AF]) in 2013, a vice president
of The Federation of Hong Kong Footwear Limited (&5
HE1970) € HRAR]) in 2014, a permanent honorary
president of Hong Kong Federation of Chendai Zhen Clans
Limited (B8MREERMESERAR]) in 2016, and a vice
president of The Federation of Jinjiang Hong Kong Associations
Limited (formerly known as “JinJiang Clans Association (H.K.)
Limited”) (BB & TIHEBEHER AR, formerly known as [ &
BETRMBEHMRAF] ) in 2013. Mr. Lin was also appointed
as one of the directors of Pok Oi Hospital Centenary (70th)
board of directors (2019-2020). Mr. Lin was admitted as
Honorary Fellow by The Professional Validation Centre of Hong
Kong Business Sector in July 2017.
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Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (FF#%F), aged 41, one of the founders
of the Group, was appointed as an executive Director on
24 January 2018. Ms. Hui is also one of the controlling
shareholders of the Company. She is the sister of Mr. Hui Chi
Kwan, the chief executive officer of the Company. Ms. Hui
is primarily responsible for formulating the Group’s strategic
planning and overall business development and overseeing
overall management and operation of the Group. Ms. Hui is
also a director of the subsidiaries of the Company, i.e. CIAO
International Limited, Quality Food 360° (Holdings) Limited, Best
Mart 360 International Limited, Best Mart 360 Macau Holdings
Limited, Best Mart 360 Macau Limited, Best Mart 360 China
Holdings Limited, Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Limited, ®3I{&
mEETEEAMR A A(Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce
Limited) and Abundant Year International Limited. Ms. Hui has
over 10 years of experience in the retail industry.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Sze Irons (iE%:1%), B.B.S., J.P., aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 December
2018. Mr. Sze obtained a Bachelor of Science from the
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse in May 1985. He is currently
the vice supervisor of the Committee of Human Resources
and Environment of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FFEIARBUAH
HNERTEZESANBRRELZE®EEM), an executive
member of the Beijing Municipal Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FEAREIAR
Memlt AT EEE¥HELE) and the Permanent Honorary
President of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong. Mr. Sze was appointed the Justice of the Peace in 2011
and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2015.
Mr. Sze is a director of Hang Tung Resources Limited, a private
company in Hong Kong, since March 1984.

Mr. Sze is an independent non-executive director of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 25), Continental
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 513), ST International Holdings
Company Limited (Stock Code: 8521) and Jianzhong
Construction Development Limited (Stock Code: 589)
respectively, all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Sze was also a non-executive director of China Weaving
Materials Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3778), a listed
company in Hong Kong, from May 2011 to June 2019.
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Mr. Sze was also a non-executive director of Bel Global
Resources Holdings Limited (“Bel Global”) from 1 February
2017 to 21 September 2019, which shares were previously
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock
Code 761.
suspended since 4 July 2011,

Trading in the shares of Bel Global had been
and the listing of the shares of
Bel Global was cancelled by the Stock Exchange with effect
from 24 August 2018.

Ms. Choy So Yuk (¥Z%X) B.B.S., J.P., aged 69, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 18
December 2018. Ms. Choy obtained her Bachelor of Science
degree and Master of Philosophy degree from The University
of Hong Kong in 1974 and 1980 respectively. Ms. Choy is a
deputy of the National People’s Congress of the PRC. She was a
member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong from 1998 to
2008. Ms. Choy was appointed the Justice of the Peace in 2005
and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the HKSAR in 2013.

Ms. Choy is also an independent non-executive director of
Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 988) and
Evershine Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8022), both
of which are listed companies in Hong Kong. She was also
an independent non-executive director of Blockchain Group
Company Limited (Stock Code: 364), a listed company in Hong
Kong, from August 2002 to October 2017. On 19 November
2018, Blockchain Group Company Limited was ordered to be
wound up by the High Court of Hong Kong and trading in its
shares was suspended.

Mr. Lee Ka Lun (Z=%XB), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
Mr. Lee graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently
known as “The Hong Kong Polytechnic University”) with a
higher diploma in accountancy in November 1978. He is a
fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants
(now known as "Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants”) since 1985. Mr. Lee is also a licenced person
under the SFO to carry on Type 4 (advising on securities)
and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities since
March 2008. He is the responsible officer of Asia Investment
Management Limited since 10 April 2017.
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Mr. Lee is also an independent non-executive director of
Chong Hing Bank Limited (Stock Code: 1111), Yuexiu Property
Company Limited (Stock Code: 123); Chow Sang Sang Holdings
International Limited (Stock Code: 116), Ever Harvest Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1549) and Medicskin Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8307), all of which are listed companies
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee was also an independent non-executive
director of REXLot Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 555), a listed
company in Hong Kong, from 17 April 2007 to 29 June 2018.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Hui Chi Kwan (FF&#), aged 43, is the chief executive
officer of the Group since April 2015. Mr. Hui is the brother
of Ms. Hui Ngai Fan, executive director of the Company. He
is responsible for overseeing day to day management of the
Group and reporting to and executing decisions from the
Board. Mr. Hui is also a director of Best Mart 360 Macau
Limited and FYIIERELEZTEHEEFR A F(Shenzhen Best
Mart 360 Commerce Limited), subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Hui was appointed as a member of the 12th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Shandong Province
Committee (FEIARBAHAEZEE T _ELREEZES) i
December 2019. He was appointed as a member of the 12th
and 13th Chinese People’'s Political Consultative Conference
Jinjiang Municipal Committee (FEIARBUAHEE#E +Z/E
RE+=ZBETIMZESE). He was appointed as vice president
and a permanent honorary president of The Fukien Athletic
Club (B/ABZEEE®) from 2015 to 2018 and was promoted
to executive vice president and a permanent honorary president
of The Fukien Athletic Club in 2018. Mr. Hui was appointed as
a vice chairman of Hong Kong Department Stores and Retail
General Union (B8R EMZTEXMAE) in January 2016. He
was also appointed as the president of Hong Kong Federation
of Chendai Zhen Clans Limited (FBRFIERMSBRSHREA
A]) in June 2019. Mr. Hui was admitted as Fellow by The
Professional Validation Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector
in June 2015. Mr. Hui has over 16 years of experience in retail
industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREAEEEREFE

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. Hung Man Chi (##808), aged 57, is the chief financial
officer of the Group. Ms. Hung joined the Group in
September 2013 as an account officer. She was promoted as
our accountant in April 2015 and further promoted as the
chief financial officer of the Group in November 2017. She
is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall financial
position and accounting matters of the Group and overseeing
corporate governance and maintaining risk management and
internal control system.

Ms. Hung obtained a Higher Stage Diploma in Higher
Accounting from the City College of Commerce in 1988.
She was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in September 2010. She was
admitted as a member of and has become a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November
2008 and November 2013 respectively. Ms. Hung has over 21
years of experience in finance and accounting management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen (##&I&), aged 40, is the company
secretary of the Company. Ms. Hung graduated from the
University of Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor of Laws
degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 2001 and 2002
respectively. She obtained her Master of Laws degree from
University College London in 2003. Ms. Hung was admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong in January 2006 and was appointed as
the company secretary of the Company on 18 December 2018.
Ms. Hung is also the company secretary of AKM Industrial
Company Limited (Stock Code: 1639), a listed company in
Hong Kong, since 13 June 2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance, to formulate good corporate governance
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in
operations, and to strengthen the internal control system from
time to time so as to ensure to meet with the expectations of
the shareholders of the Company.

During the financial year under review, the Company has
adopted and complied with all applicable code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are separate and performed by different individuals to ensure
a balance of power and authority, so that power is not
concentrated in any one individual. Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, Chairman
and Executive Director, is responsible for formulating the
Group's strategic planning and overall business development
and overseeing overall management and operation of the
Group, while Mr. Hui Chi Kwan, Chief Executive Officer, is
responsible for overseeing day to day management of the
Group and reporting to and executing decisions from the
Board. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct governing the securities transactions by the
Directors. Following a specific enquiry made by the Company
on the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the financial year under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and
supervising the overall management of the Group’s business.
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by providing effective leadership
and direction to its business, formulating group policies
and business directions, monitoring internal controls and
performances, and ensuring transparency and accountability
of its operations. The powers and duties of the Board include
convening general meetings and reporting the Board’'s work
at the Shareholders’ meetings, determining the business and
investment plans, preparing the periodic financial budgets
and reports, formulating proposals for profit distributions and
exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred
by the articles of association of the Company. The Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference which are published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group

and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises of the following five Directors during the
financial year under review:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (Chairman)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP

Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP
Mr. Lee Ka Lun
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The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and
Senior Management” of this report.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group. Ms. Hui Ngai Fan, an executive Director,
is the sister of Mr. Hui Chi Kwan, Chief Executive Officer of
the Group. There was no financial, business, family or other
material relationship among the Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors have extensive
experience in different areas or professions and will give
independent advice to the Board from time to time. By their
active participation in Board meeting and by their service on
various Board committees, the independent non-executive
Directors contribute in important ways to the effective direction
and strategic decision making of the Group.

During the financial year under review, the Board had at all
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of
the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
confirmation of independence in writing pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent and have met the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the financial year under
review

BOARD MEETING

The Board scheduled five meetings during the financial
year under review. All Directors attended the meetings. The
Company expects to hold at least four meetings per year, with
special Board meetings being scheduled as required. Formal
notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting, while for special Board meetings, reasonable notice
will be given.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee to assist in carrying out its responsibilities and
functions. Each of these committees has specific written terms
of reference setting out its duties and authorities, and are
available for review on the respective website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The committees have sufficient
resources to execute their requisite duties and enjoy the
support of the management.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management system of the Group, to oversee the audit
process, to develop and review the policies and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The
audit committee comprises of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. Choy So Yuk and Mr. Lee
Ka Lun. The chairman of the audit committee is Mr. Lee Ka Lun.

The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended 31
March 2020 and the unaudited interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2019 had been reviewed by the
audit committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosures were
made.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee include
(but without limitation): (i) making recommendations to
the Directors regarding the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all the Directors and senior management
of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management; (iii)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
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objectives; and (iv) considering and approving the grant of
share options to eligible participants pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme. The remuneration committee comprises of
two independent non-executive Directors and one executive
Director, namely, Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. Choy So Yuk, and Mr. Lin
Tsz Fung. The chairman of the remuneration committee is
Mr. Sze Irons.

Nomination Committee

The primary function of the nomination committee is to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
members of the Board. The nomination committee comprises
of two independent non-executive Directors and one executive
Choy So Yuk, Mr.
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan. The chairman of the nomination committee is
Ms. Choy So Yuk.

Director, namely, Ms. Lee Ka Lun and

The Company recognises and embraces the importance
and benefit to achieve diversity on the Board to corporate
governance and board effectiveness. The Company sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and
its sustainable development. In deciding the composition of
the Board, the Company will consider the Board diversity
from various perspectives with reference to the Company's
business model and specific needs, including but not limited to
gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional experience.
All appointments of the Board are based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The nomination committee has primary responsibility for
identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of
the Board and shall give adequate consideration to this policy in

selection of board candidates.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings
and Board Committee meetings of the Company held during
the financial year under review is set out in the table below:

EENESZESHENHFLE

BEENOEVBFEALEARAEES S
ZNEBEEZBEEHRMNBFELENT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE EEXY
Audit  Remuneration  Nomination General
Board  Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Name of Director EEfS Exe ERZEg gMzEEe REEZEE REAE
Executive Directors: HITEE
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung MFELE 5/5 N/A 1 N/A 1N
TEA TEF
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan FHRALL 5/5 N/A N/A il 11
TEA NEA
Independent non-executive Directors: B AHTEE -
Mr. Sze Irons HRELE 5/5 22 1/1 N/A 0/1
NEA
Ms. Choy So Yuk BREnt 5/5 22 1/1 1/1 on
Mr. Lee Ka Lun FREBLE 5/5 22 N/A 17N 1/1
NEA
DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE EEEERE

During the financial year under review, the Company had
arranged for appropriate and adequate insurance cover
to protect the Directors from legal action arising from the
performance of their duties as a Director. Such insurance
coverage is reviewed and renewed by the Board on an annual
basis.
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DIRECTORS’” CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Pursuant to the CG Code A.6.5, Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses. The Company has received from each
Director a confirmation of his/her participation in appropriate
continuous professional development by way of attending
seminars or self-reading in compliance with CG Code A.6.5 for
the financial year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of the Directors though having
delegated the corporate governance duties to the Audit
Committee which include, but are not limited to:

1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

3) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and the Directors; and

5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the
external auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, for the audit of
the year ended 31 March 2020 and non-audit services is set out
below:

B BN

REE_ZT_TF=A=1+—HLEFENEHK
K IERZBURTG FEAS T AR B SMNEZ BB & B
VEERGAMEBMBERARNMES D ITEH
FIE

Nature of Service RiEMHE Fees Paid/Payable
e EREA

HK$

BT

Audit services % ER 7% 780,000
Non-audit services IEZERT 230,000
Total @t 1,010,000

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020, and confirmed that the financial
statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any undisclosed material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen was appointed as the company secretary
on 18 December 2018. Ms. Hung Ching Yuen is an external
service provider to the Company and a solicitor practising in
Hong Kong. She has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the Listing Rules. The
primary contact person between the Company and Ms. Hung
Ching Yuen is Ms. Hung Man Chi, the chief financial officer of
the Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company has adopted a series of internal control policies
and has implemented risk management policies to address
various potential risks identified in relation to the Group's
operations, including operational risks, credit risks, market
risks, financial risks and legal risks. The Board conducts a
thorough examination of any material risks associated with any
material business decision before approving such decision. The
Directors and senior management keep track of day-to-day
operations and monitor any associated operational risks of
the Group and formulate policies and resolutions to mitigate
or resolve these risks. Trainings are provided to relevant
employees in order to enhance their industry knowledges
and to encourage encompassing culture of risk management
ensuring that the relevant employees are aware of and
responsible for risk management. The Company convenes
meetings periodically to discuss financial, operational,
compliance and risk management control. The Board, through
the audit committee, conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems in its financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. A compliance team
which consists of the chief financial officer and legal advisers
has been established to organise, review and maintain the
internal control system and to provide assistance to the
Directors, senior management and employees with respect to
the internal control policies. During the financial year under
review, the Company has appointed a compliance adviser to
advise the Company on compliance with the Listing Rules, and
has engaged external legal advisers to advise the Company
on compliance with and provide updates on the changes in
the Listing Rules and the applicable Hong Kong laws, rules
and regulations from time to time and as required. The audit
committee is responsible for reviewing the internal control
systems and procedures for compliance with the requirements
prescribed by the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems were adequate and effective
during the financial year under review.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has no fixed dividend policy specifying a dividend
payout ratio. The amount of any dividends to be declared will
be subject to the decision by the Board and will depend on,
among others, the Group’s results of operations, available
cashflows and financial condition, operating and capital
requirements, the articles of association of the Company, the
Companies Laws, applicable laws and regulations and any
other factors that the Directors deem relevant. Dividends may
be paid only out of the distributable profits of the Company as
permitted under the applicable laws and shall not exceed the
amount determined by the Board.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make
proposals or make a motion at the annual general meetings
under the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders
who wish to make proposals or make a motion may, however,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene
an EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

In accordance with article 58 of the articles of association of
the Company, extraordinary general meeting shall be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at the general meetings of the Company. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary for
the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting should be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
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Any requisition to convene an extraordinary general meeting
or proposal to be put forward at the general meeting can be
addressed to the principal place of business in Hong Kong of
the Company at 14/F, SML Tower, 165 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong marked with the attention of
the Board or the Company Secretary. The requisitionists must
state in their requisition(s) the objects of the extraordinary
general meeting to be convened, and such requisition must be
signed by all the requisitionists. Upon receipt, the Company
will verify the requisitionists’ particulars and shareholding and
if the requisition is in order, the Company will convene the
extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. On the contrary, if the requisition
has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists concerned
will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, the Board will
not convene the extraordinary general meeting and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the
requisitionists at the extraordinary general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure effective communication with Shareholders of
the Company. Under the policy, the Company’s information
shall be communicated to the Shareholders through general
meetings, including annual general meetings of the Company,
the Company’s corporate communications (including, but not
limited to, the annual report, the interim report, notices of
meeting, circulars and proxy forms), information and materials
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for
publicly available information and provide comments and
suggestions to Directors or management of the Company.
Such questions, requests and comments can be addressed to
the Company by mail to 14/F, SML Tower, 165 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings by mail to the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by telephone at
(852) 2862-8555, who has been appointed by the Company
to deal with Shareholders for share registration and related
matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the financial year under review, there were no changes
to the constitutional documents of the Company. An up to
date version of the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association is available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange's website.
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Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group operated 102
retail stores in Hong Kong and one retail store in Macau as
at 31 March 2020. The Board recognizes the significance of
sustainable development of the Group’s business operations
contributed by the environment and the well-being of the
community. For this purpose, the Group, on one hand, is
committed to conserving and protecting the environment and,
on the other hand, attaches great importance to corporate
social responsibilities that improve the welfare of the employees
of the Group, cater needs of local community and create better
community.

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) for the year ended
31 March 2020 which is prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
contained in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. This ESG Report
covers the performance and efforts towards environment,
society and governance of the Group in the offices, the retail
stores and the warehouses located in Hong Kong and/or Macau
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Due to the effect of coronavirus situation outbursted in January
2020, the Group had not yet commenced its operation in the
Mainland China during the financial year under review.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in retail business in Hong
Kong and Macau, the Group’s operational activities in
Hong Kong and Macau do not directly generate industrial
pollutants in Hong Kong and Macau such as hazardous
emissions, wastes or pollutants that are generally regarded
as having a high environmental impact. As a responsible
corporate citizen, the Group understands and respects
its responsibility to the environment, and endeavours
to achieve eco-friendly operations and conservation of
resources for pursuing sustainable development.

During the financial year under review, the Group had
not been involved in any material non-compliance issues
in respect of any applicable laws and regulations on
environmental protection.
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A.1 Emissions

Hong Kong

The Group does not directly produce emissions.
The major source of air emissions that is indirectly
generated by the Group is attributed to gasoline and
diesel consumed by an external transportation fleet
engaged by the Group to collect, distribute and/
or deliver goods between products’ arrival shipping
terminal, airport and warehouse of forwarders
appointed by the Group’'s overseas suppliers
(collectively “Collection Points”), warehouses of
the Group and retail stores of the Group. As the
Group has outsourced the onland transportation
arrangement in Hong Kong to a Hong Kong logistic
service company, which is an independent third party
that is not owned by or controlled by the Group,
and therefore the retrieval of relevant data of such
emissions in Hong Kong is not feasible. The Group
is, however, keen to guide and pursue the provision
of logistic services to the Group by the Hong Kong
logistic company in environmental friendly manner
and strive to minimize the environmental impact of
direct emissions from the external transportation
fleet. To this end, the Group has adopted various
measures to mitigate air-pollution from its logistic
arrangement, including streamlining logistic routing
and fully and efficiently utilizing the loading capacity
of each transportation vehicles which optimize
logistic efficiency and minimize vehicles exhaust and
arranging delivery services to most of the retail stores
in Hong Kong in non-peak hours that considerably
reduces roadside emissions from traffic congestion.
During the financial year under review, such measures
were meticulously enforced.

The Group believes that the foregoing measures
adopted in Hong Kong, on one hand, promote
eco-friendly logistic arrangement and, on the other
hand, improve the Group's operational efficiency.
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In addition, the Group noticed that the Hong
Kong logistic company engaged by the Group had
commenced in June 2018 and had completed in
April 2019 upgrading all of its heavy duty vehicles in
conformity with the Euro-VI emission standard and
the qualifying standards for environment-friendly
commercial vehicles adopted by the Environmental
Protection Department which have taken effect from
1 April 2019. The Group is assured by the Hong Kong
logistic company that logistic services provided to the
Group in Hong Kong will be principally undertaken
with the heavy duty vehicles conforming the Euro-VI
emission standard that are more environmentally
friendly in terms of fuel saving and emission
composition which contained 80% less nitrogen
oxides and 50% less inhalable particulate matter
(PM10) as compared with that of vehicles conforming
the Euro-V emission standard and thereby lessen the
negative impact on the environment from the exhaust
gas emission of the transportation vehicles.

Macau

During the financial year under review, the Group
operated one retail store in Macau. The shipping of
products from Hong Kong to Macau and the onland
transportation arrangement in Macau have been
outsourced to a Macau shipping company and a
Macau logistic service company respectively, both
of which are independent third parties that are not
owned or controlled by the Group. The Group noted
that the vessel principally used by the Macau shipping
company has obtained the Hong Kong Air Pollution
Prevention Certificate issued by the Hong Kong
Marine Department. In addition, the Group noticed
that the Macau logistic service company commenced
to upgrade all of its vehicles in March 2016, and
had completed the upgrade and replacement of all
of its vehicles in accordance with the exhaust gas
emission standard adopted under the relevant laws
and regulations in Macau. The Group has been
assured by the Macau logistic service company that
all transportation vehicles providing logistic services
to the Group in Macau will be in conformance with
and will continue to be in conformance with the
standard and requirement under the relevant laws
and regulations in Macau, and the Macau logistic
service company also further assured that it will take
all necessary actions to comply with the relevant
environment protection laws and regulations in force
in Macau from time to time.
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A.2 Use of Resources

The major source of energy used by the Group
is electricity, which is mainly used in the general
lighting, air-conditioning and powering of computers,
office equipments and other equipments in the office,
retail stores and warehouses of the Group.

Water usage in the Group’s business operation is
minimal as the Group’s operation does not consume
water. Water is mainly used by employees for
drinking and personal hygiene purpose in the office,
retail stores and warehouses of the Group which
amount is insignificant. The other resources used
by the Group in its business operation is paper and
plastic shopping bags.

The amount of energy and resources used by the
Group during the financial year under review were as

follows:
Consumed Consumed
during the during the
Energy and year ended year ended
Resources Unit 31 March 2020 31 March 2019
Electricity kWh 3,448,553 3,146,622
(Note 1) (Note 1)
A4 Papers pieces 1,202,500 1,036,500
A3 Papers pieces
(Note 2) 40,000 25,000
Plastic bags pieces 1,532,800 1,760,459
Notes:
1. representing generation of carbon dioxide emissions of

2,793,328 kilograms in Hong Kong and Macau during the
year ended 31 March 2020 and 2,517,298 kilograms in Hong
Kong during the year ended 31 March 2019 respectively. The
increase in consumption of electricity and the generation of
carbon dioxide emissions for the financial year under review
as compared to that of last financial year was mainly due to
the increase in the number of retail stores of the Group in the
financial year under review.

2. the raw material of A3 papers used by the Group is 100%
elemental chlorine free pulp procured from sustainable and
legally harvested sources.
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A.3 Environmental and Natural Resources

In order to minimize the impacts on the environment
and to improve shareholder returns, the Group has
proactively promoted energy utilization efficiency,
conservation and environmental awareness to its
employees and has adopted various measures for
energy and resources saving during the financial year
under review. For examples:

e employees are required to switch off all
non-essential lighting, air-conditioning and
computer monitors during lunchtime, and to
switch off all lighting, air-conditioning and
computer monitors and unplug all electronic
appliances when leaving the office or workplace
to reduce electricity consumption;

e maintaining air-conditioning temperature in
office generally at 23.5C for setting comfortable
office environment whilst avoiding power waste;

e switching off all non-essential air-conditioning
in retail stores when the retail stores are closed
after operation hours to reduce electricity
consumption;

e maintaining air-conditioning temperature in
retail stores generally at around 24-25T in
autumn and winter seasons and at not lower
than 19T in summer season for avoiding power
waste;

e paper used by the Group are sourced from
suppliers which are certified to be in compliance
with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)
Chain-of-Custody certification;

e thermal paper roll used by cash registers of the
Group’s retail stores have been tested to be free
from bisphenol A,

e tissue paper and towel paper used by the Group
have been tested to be in compliance with
GB standard 20810-2006 “Bathroom Tissue
(including bathroom tissue base paper);
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e employees are required to login with personal o
user ID and password when photocopying to
inspire paper saving;

e electronic salary statement have been adopted to o
exempt paper usage;

e time attendance system and leave application o
system of employees have been computerized to
minimize paper usage;

e ink boxes and toner cartridges used by the o
Group are sourced from manufacturers which
are certified to be in compliance with ISO
9001:2016;

e garbage classification has been implemented in o
the office of the Group for the ease of waste
recycling;

e all circulars and notices to retail stores are sent in .
electronic format to exempt paper usage; and

e employees are encouraged to print less o
documents and to reuse single-side used paper
to minimize paper usage.

In addition, the Group promotes quantitative AN

reduction of wastage at source by:

e reducing food wastages by offering slow-moving o
and expiring products at clearance prices to
customers;

e encouraging customers to giving up festival gift °

wrapping by imposing wrapping charges; and

e strictly complying with the Product o
Eco-responsibility (Amendment) Ordinance 2014
and the plastic shopping bag levy in Hong Kong.
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The Group also promotes environmental awareness
in its business by using polybags made of
oxo-biodegradable plastic since February 2018.
Such polybags have satisfied relevant product
environmental criteria set by Green Council,
a non-profit and non-partisan environmental
association of Hong Kong, and have been certified
and licensed under the Hong Kong Green Label
Scheme launched by Green Council.

Further, in order to reduce the plastic wrap used
for securing products at warehouses, the Group
increased the use of reusable ropes and nylon ties
in replacement of the one-time packaging plastic
wrap for bounding products and the use of pallet
cage carts that secure products on transition from
warehouses to retail stores, thereby reduced the use
of the undegradable plastic wrap.

Looking ahead, aiming at growing business without
depleting environment and natural resources and
running business responsibly, the Group will continue
to review its operation and explore other possibilities
to further diminish pollutants and waste, to
optimize energy consumption and to improve energy
efficiency.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

B.1 Employment

The Group highly values its employees and sees
its employees as one of its valuable assets. The
Group generally recruits employees from the open
market based on various factors such as their
experience in the retail industry. The recruitment
process is conducted through and monitored by
the human resources department to ensure fairness
in the recruitment process. The Group is an equal
opportunities employer and is committed to providing
equal opportunities in recruitment and promotion,
regardless of age, gender, race, color, religion,
nationality, marital status or disability.
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B.2

The Group conducts periodical review on the
performance of the employees from time to time
and make reference to such performance reviews
for assessing discretionary annual bonus, salary
adjustments and promotion appraisals. In addition to
base salaries, the Group offers discretionary annual
bonus to all of the employees and, for the front-line
staff, performance-related bonus, sales target
bonus and miscellaneous duties-related allowances.
The Group also offers various benefit plans to the
employees, including staff shopping discounts, top-up
leave entitlement and medical insurance and regularly
reviews and improves such benefit plans to suitably
award all level of employees timely that persistently
uplifts the loyalty and incentives of employees.

During the financial year under review, there was
no material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to employment.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to provide a safe and healthy
working environment to its employees. The Group
complies with the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance in all relevant requirements. The normal
operation of the Group does not by its nature involve
high-risk or safety-sensitive type of work. To ensure
that the business is operated in a safe environment
and the staff have the necessary knowledge on work
safety, the Group has adopted and implemented work
place safety guidelines for all our staff in the retail
stores which set out the Group’s work safety policies
and promote safety in work sites. In addition, the
Group has also launched internal training sessions
to educate the employees of the importance of and
correct practices for health and safety in work place.
Any accidents that occur in the work place will be
reported to and handled by the human resources
department so as to ensure that any injuries occurred
in the work place will be properly recorded and
insurance claims and treatments are effectively
pursued to protect the employees and the Group.

B.2
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B.3

Apart from escalating the health and safety
standard in the Group’s working environment, the
management of the Group also swiftly responded
to emergencies to safeguard work’s health and
safety of employees. During the financial year under
review, the Group renewed occupational safety
guidance materials for frontline staffs to strengthen
its employee’s self-protection capability and their
eligibility in managing emergencies in response to
possible incidents arising from the vandalism in
the social movement. Further, in response to the
coronavirus pandemic, the Group had timely issued
guidelines to all level of staffs to uplift the sense
of self-precautions in resisting viral infection and
had implemented various preventive measures to
safequard the health and safety of its employees,
such as regular cleaning arrangement at offices
and retail stores, provision of protective face masks
and hand sanitizer to all staffs and the adoption of
flexible working hours for all office and warehouse
staffs to avoid the high risk of infection in public
transportation during peak hours.

During the financial year under review, there was
no material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to occupational health and safety.

Development and Training

The Group places great importance on the continuous
development and training of the employees, and
is devoted to the continuous improvement in the
skills and quality of service of the employees. The
Group offers various in house training programs to
the newly recruited employees and front-line staff
and management, that provide orientation, enhance
skills, knowledge, occupational safety, fertility,
sense of belongings of the employees and educate
the employees the duties to comply with statutory
obligations. During the financial year under review,
the Group had improved the modules of in house
training by introducing video programmes lectures
for the orientation of newly joined front-line staff in
order to further improve and unify the training to its
front-line staff. The Group also provides sponsorship
for the employees’ personal development.

B.3
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B.4 Labour Standards

B.5

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child
labour and forced or compulsory labour at all its
business units, and highly values and strictly abides
by all applicable labour laws and regulations on
employment in Hong Kong. The Group had not
identified any material non-compliance regarding
violations of relevant laws and regulations on child
labour and forced labour during the financial year
under review.

Supply Chain Management

The Group recognizes the significance of suppliers
in maintaining a quality, trendy and broad appeal
product mix in the retail stores with competitive
prices. In order to keep abreast of information on
new products available in the international market,
the Group on one hand generally maintain stable
business collaborative relationships with the existing
suppliers for regularly reviewing new brand and
products available in the market countries around
the world and on the other hand attending major
international trade shows and business missions
for identifying new brand owners, manufacturers,
distributors and trading companies.

The Group has maintained a list of suppliers and
typically works with trustworthy suppliers possessing
with reliable corporate background, trading history
and reputation. The Group has also established and
maintained a suppliers’ recognition procedure and
has adopted a standardised criteria for evaluating the
qualifications of potential suppliers. To be admitted
as a supplier of the Group, the potential supplier
will be required to provide documents proving its
corporate background and relevant certifications or
qualifications possessed by the potential supplier
for meeting certain international or local standards.
Depending on the origins of the potential supplier
and nature of products to be procured, the
potential supplier may also be required to provide
manufacturing and analysis certificates, health
certificates, certificates of origin and/or attestations
issued by relevant governmental bodies or
manufacturers or brand owners in respect of products
to be procured by the Group, and certificates in
relation to food or products safety and/or quality
manufacturing process of the products.
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B.6

The Group conducts periodical review on the product
quality, services standard and the reputation of the
approved suppliers in order to ensure product quality
and services are maintained at a satisfactory level.
The periodical review on the product quality covers
assessment on the appropriateness of packaging of
products provided by individual approved suppliers
on their arrival, the consistency on quality between
sample products and products ordered and delivered,
any quality issue(s) on products provided by individual
approved suppliers and its/their nature and materiality
of such issue(s) and the overall satisfactory level
on the quality of products provided by individual
approved suppliers collected from customers’
suggestion and feedback, if any. Suppliers that are
unable to meet the guiding standards for periodical
review will be encouraged to take necessary remedial
measures to cure the impediments for the Group’s
continuous procurement or they will be removed
from the list of suppliers until appropriate remedial
measures are taken to the Group’s satisfaction.

Product Responsibility

The Group places strong emphasis on products quality
and safety and has set up procedures to ensure that
the products procured are in full compliance with
the food safety, food labelling and consumer goods
safety related laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The
quality control team of the Group is responsible for
monitoring and assessing the compliance of products
to be procured with the relevant Hong Kong laws and
regulations before placing purchase orders. All of the
suppliers are required to warrant the accuracy and
completeness of products information provided to
the Group. The logistic team of the Group performs
designated quality check procedures and checks the
inclusion of printed label information on products
packages or the status of affixation of applicable
product labels on such products at the warehouse.
The front-line sales staffs also conduct regular checks
on in-store products in order to maintain the safety
and quality of the in-store inventory and to ensure
relevant product labels are duly affixed.

B.6
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B.7

During the financial year under review, the Group had
engaged an independent food testing laboratory to
undertake all necessary laboratory tests on its private
label products so as to safeguard and ensure the
compliance of relevant laws and regulations for such
OEM products, such as product labels requirements
and to uplift food safety standard.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant
laws and regulations on customer data protection
and privacy. The personal information of customers
collected by the Group through membership scheme
are kept in strict confidence and are only used for
specific intended purposes. The Group has established
internal guidelines to ensure compliance with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.

During the financial year under review, the Group
is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that constitutes a
significant impact on the Group in relation to health
and safety, labelling and privacy matters.

Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly prohibits all bribery and corruption
and is committed to the highest possible standards
of openness, probity and accountability. The Group
had issued guidelines to the employees on red
packets or gifts offered to them during Chinese
New Year. All employees must fully comply with
the relevant laws and regulations as well as the
Group'’s own corruption prevention policies.
Employees are encouraged to report any misconduct
or dishonest activity, such as suspected corruption,
fraud and other forms of criminality to the audit
committee, board of directors or the chief executive
officer. The Group had not identified any material
non-compliance case regarding violations of relevant
laws and regulations on anti-corruption during the
financial year under review.
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B.8 Community Investment

The Group attaches great importance to corporate
social responsibility and actively participates in various
community involvement programs or charity events
to support the development of healthy life, to cater
needs of local community, to enhance fraternal
cooperation in the community and to create better
community.

The Group has been accredited as “Caring Company
(FFERE)" by The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service (BB E ARIFEEE) since March 2018. During
the financial year under review, the Group has taken
initiative in providing donation to various community
involvement programs and charity events, including:

. Donation to “New Territories Walk for Millions”
(TFT R EABE1T]) organized by The Community
Chest (BB 2% %) in November 2019

e Provision of exclusive privilege to Senior Citizen
Card Holders on Senior Citizens Day (K% H)
organised by the Social Welfare Department in
November 2019
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e Donation of 1,610 kg of assorted groceries e RZZE—NF+—ABE1,6102T
in support of Feeding Hong Kong (44%t) in ME A Rt

November 2019

. Donation of 50,000 face masks and 10,000
disinfecting hand sanitizers to The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service (BB g RBHE ) for
the local community in February 2020
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
Group is principally engaged in the retail sale of prepackaged
leisure foods and other grocery products, which can be broadly
categorised into (i) confectioneries; (ii) packaged bakery
products and snacks; (iii) nuts and dried fruits; (iv) grain and
other miscellaneous food products; (v) beverages and wine; (vi)
personal care products; and (vii) other products. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the financial
year under review and a discussion of the Group’s future
development are set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s
Statement on pages 8 to 10 of this report and the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 11 to 33 of this
report. These discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business operation, financial condition and results
may be affected by certain risks and uncertainties pertaining
to the Group’s business. Major risks and uncertainties are
summarized below which are by no means exhaustive or
comprehensive. There may be other risks in addition to these
shown below which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.
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Risk relating to global and domestic economic
environment

The global economy experienced an unprecedented severe
shock in the first quarter of 2020 due to the outbreak of
the novel coronavirus pandemic worldwide and the stringent
anti-epidemic measures such as travel restrictions and
lockdowns implemented by many governments, leading to
sharp moderation or even shuttering of economic activities
worldwide. In April 2020, International Monetary Fund (IMF)
published in the World Economic Outlook Report its forecast
that the global economy is projected to contract sharply by -3%
in 2020, which is much worse than during the 2008-2009
financial crisis. Although in a baseline scenario, which assumes
that the novel coronavirus pandemic fades in the second half
of 2020 and containment efforts can be gradually unwound,
IMF projected that the global economy will grow by 5.8% in
2021 as economy activity normalizes with policy support, there
are extreme uncertainties around the global growth forecast.
The development of the novel coronavirus pandemic, and
the implementation and effectiveness of fiscal, monetary and
economic policies and measures by governments of different
countries, cast serious uncertainties over the speed of recovery
of the global economy.

Further, the global economy and business environment is also
clouded by the United States-China trade relationship and the
European Union-UK economic relationship following Brexit
on 31 January 2020. Although the United States and China
signed Phase | trade deal in January 2020, the conflict between
United States and China remained intense and unresolved. The
negotiation between European Union and UK post-Brexit is still
ongoing and the outcome remains highly uncertain.

Uncertainties in global economy and business environment
not only will led to fluctuating exchange rates but will also
adversely affect consumption sentiment confidence. Since
the Group purchase products from various overseas suppliers,
mainly from the United States, Europe and Japan, purchase
commitments are normally settled in foreign currency.
Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rate could have
impacts on the procurement costs of the Group which, in turn,
affect its profitability.
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The economy and business environment in Hong Kong is also
expected to remain highly challenging and uncertain due
to the uncertainties posed by the development of the novel
coronavirus and the possible revival or intensification of social
movement and unrest in Hong Kong. As reported by the Office
of the Government Economist Financial Secretary’s Office
of the Hong Kong Government, the gross domestic product
("GDP") contracted by 1.2% in real terms for 2019 as a whole,
as compared to the 2.9% growth in 2018, and contracted by
8.9% in real terms for the first quarter of 2020 from a year
earlier. It was also reported that both of the local consumer
spending on food and visitor spending declined remarkably
since the second half of year 2019, as the local social incidents
caused severe disruptions to consumption-related activities and
dampened consumer sentiment already weakened by subdued
economic conditions. Challenging economic environment could
adversely affect purchasing power and spending habit of both
of the local population and tourists visiting Hong Kong that
may have an overall adverse effect on the Group’s business,
and results of operations.

Risk relating to the retail store rental market

The Group leased or licensed all of its retail stores, office and
warehouses for its operation. Hence, rental expenses constitute
a significant portion of the Group's operating expenses.
Although retail rental across all major districts in Hong Kong
recorded a continuing downward trend since the second
quarter in 2019, and the Group received offer for short term
rental reduction ranging from approximately 3.6% to 60.0%
for period ranging from one month to six months from certain
landlords during the financial year under review in response
to the outbreak of social movement in Hong Kong and the
outburst of novel coronavirus infection, the retail rental market
fluctuates and remain uncertain, and the rent reductions
granted by landlords are temporary. The downward trend in
retail rental market may cease and landlords may not continue
to offer rental reductions. Any material increase in rental costs
in Hong Kong will significantly raise the operating costs of the
Group and affect the Group’s profitability.
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Risk relating to outbound investment

As disclosed in the announcement on change in use of
proceeds dated 15 January 2020 of the Company, to
counterbalance the risks associated with the downturn of
retail market in Hong Kong and the uncertainties in the local
economic environment, the Group is prepared to escalate its
pace of outbound investment in Macau and in Mainland China.
As at the date of this report, the Group has opened two retail
stores in Macau, and is preparing the expansion of the Group'’s
retail business into the Mainland China. The Group’s expansion
plan and progress in outbound investment will be affected by
the retail environment in Macau and Mainland China and the
implementation of regulations and policies from time to time
by the relevant governmental authorities, and may or may not
progress as planned. If the Group’s expansion plan in Macau
and Mainland China was materially affected or hindered, the
Group’s financial condition, results of operations and growth
prospects may also be adversely affected.

Risk relating to the availability of desirable locations for
retail stores

The Group’s performance depends significantly on the ability
to secure and renew tenancy in desirable locations. In selecting
sites for retail stores, various factors such as population density
of the location, its convenience and customer accessibility will
be taken into account. If the Group encounters difficulties
in securing or renewing tenancy for retail stores in desirable
locations, the Group’s existing scale of operation and its
proposed plan for retail network’s expansion in Hong Kong
and Macau will be adversely affected which will, in turn, affect
the financial position, results of operation and/or business
prospects of the Group.

Risk relating to staff costs

With effect from 1 May 2019, the statutory minimum wage
in Hong Kong raised from HK$34.5 per hour to HK$37.5 per
hour. The Minimum Wage Commission is conducting a review of
the statutory minimum wage rate and is required to submit its
recommendation report on the statutory minimum wage rate to
the Chief Executive in Council on or before 30 October 2020.
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The Group’s operations in Hong Kong are required to
comply with the statutory minimum wage requirements.
Should the statutory minimum wage be raised following any
recommendation on increase in the statutory minimum wage
rate by the Minimum Wage Commission, the Group’s staff
costs will increase accordingly.

Although the Group managed to maintain relatively stable
staff costs as a percentage of revenue historically, such ratio
may increase in the future due to factors beyond the Group’'s
control, including rates of inflation, minimum wages and
laws relating to employee salaries and benefits. The Group
may not be able to increase its prices effectively to pass such
increased staff costs onto its customers, or it may lose certain
customers due to increased prices, in which case the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations would be adversely
affected.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

A discussion on the environmental policy and performance of
the Group during the financial year under review is set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 51
to 63 of this report. The Environmental, Social and Governance
Report form part of this Directors’ Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the financial year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees,

customers and suppliers.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (for the year ended 30
March 2019: HK6.0 cents per share).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$286,272,000 (2019: approximately
HK$348,841,000).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 99
and note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year under review and up to
the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (Chairman)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sze Irons
Ms. Choy So Yuk
Mr. Lee Ka Lun

There have been no changes in Directors during the financial
year under review.

Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company
("Articles of Association”) provides that at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. According to Article 84(2), the Directors to retire
by rotation shall be those who have been longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire shall (unless otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Accordingly, Mr. Sze Irons
and Ms. Choy So Yuk shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. Mr. Sze
Irons and Ms. Choy So Yuk will retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 34 to 38 of
this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company, pursuant to which each of them
agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term of
three years commenced from 11 January 2019, i.e. the Listing
Date. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed and
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon
the expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less
than six months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company, pursuant
to which each of them agreed to act as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company for an initial term of
three years commenced from 11 January 2019, i.e. the Listing
Date. The term of the letter of appointment shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
upon the expiry of the then current term until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
enter into a service contract or letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without the payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in
this section, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the financial year under review or at any time during the
financial year under review.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive officer of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong (“SFO")) required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
he or she is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which will be required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, will be as follows:

(a) Interest in the Shares of the Company
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(a) REDBRMDHERS

Approximate
percentage

Class and of the issued
number of Shares as at
issued Shares Long/Short 31 March
Name of Director Nature of interests held position 2020
R=ZB=%F
=H=+—8
e &7 HE 1T
% 10 48 5Bl B 173 K
EEpnA EEME 53 - 4=! BR/ KR BMAE D
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung Interest in controlled 375,000,000 Long position 37.5%
corporation ordinary Shares
(Note 1)
T 15 & R EHDEE S R P 58 Pk o=}
(BtaE1)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan Interest in controlled 375,000,000 Long position 37.5%
corporation ordinary Shares
(Note 2)
AFRHE L R EHDEE B R 8 37 A S
(Bt7E2)
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These 375,000,000 Shares are directly held as to 206,250,000
Shares (being approximately 20.63%) by United East Global Limited
(“United East”) and as to 168,750,000 Shares (being approximately
16.87%) by Universal Tycoon Limited (“Universal Tycoon”), both
of which in turn were wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung. Mr. Lin
Tsz Fung is therefore deemed to be interested in the aggregate of
375,000,000 Shares held by United East and Universal Tycoon under
the SFO.

These 375,000,000 Shares are directly held as to 200,000,000 Shares
(being 20%) by Sea Wealth Ventures Limited (“Sea Wealth”), as
to 95,000,000 Shares (being 9.5%) by Sino Sea Enterprises Limited
(“Sino Sea”) and as to 80,000,000 Shares (being 8%) by Giant
Blessing Global Limited (“Giant Blessing”), all of which in turn were
wholly-owned by Ms. Hui Ngai Fan. Ms. Hui Ngai Fan is therefore
deemed to be interested in the aggregate of 375,000,000 Shares
held by Sea Wealth, Sino Sea and Giant Blessing under the SFO.

(b) Interest in shares of associated corporation

5%375,000,0000% i 1 E3 B SR IR BB IR A A ([ B
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¥ ¥ 8 % #95,000,0000% & 15 (B19.5% ) k&
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(b) RAAEEEEE R s

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in associated

Class and corporation as
Name of associate Nature of number of at 31 March
Name of Director corporation interests securities held 2020
R=ZB-EF
=A=+-—8
LR LR
&S BRERN
= HEEE AR EattE HiR&H BHABEDH
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (i) United East Beneficial owner 100 100%
ordinary shares
RF S A (i) BB IR IR BB A 100/ & 3 ik
(ii) Universal Tycoon Beneficial owner 100 100%
ordinary shares
(i) I®=F BB A 100 & 3 ik
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (i) Sea Wealth Beneficial owner 100 100%
ordinary shares
AFRHE L () BE AR ERBEEA 1000% & i Ak
(i) Sino Sea Beneficial owner 100 ordinary 100%
shares
(i) TR E BB A 100/ & 3 ik
(iii) Giant Blessing Beneficial owner 100 ordinary 100%
shares
(i) =R IR IR BB A 100/ & 3 ik
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or are required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all of its
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in
this section, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a shareholder had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the financial year under review or at any time during the
financial year under review.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

TERRVERKE

R-ZB-_ZEF=-_A=1+—RH BEZEHHRH
THAL(BERARAESTRABRINR
ARBRAD AR P A RSB TR
RIREH R BB GRPIFEXVEBSE2 &35 BB XX
MARERE  HERXEEHEBEAQFHA
SEEFEMKERARCHITHNERERKRN
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As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who were directly or indirectly
interested in 10% or more of the issued voting shares of the

Company or any other member of the Group:

Approximate
percentage of

total issued
shares of the

Class and Company as at

Nature of number of 31 March

Name of Shareholder Company concerned interests securities held 2020

R=ZF=%F

=A=+-—8

HA&RRAFE

ERTRG

&S BEH

e TP % A El EattE HiR&E BABEDH

United East (Note 1) the Company Beneficial owner 206,250,000 20.63%
ordinary shares
SEERIRIK (Bt T) ZAN/NE] Ena A 206,250,000%
LB

Universal Tycoon (Note 1) the Company Beneficial owner 168,750,000 16.87%
ordinary shares
R (Mi1) ZN/NS BB A 168,750,0008%
5

Sea Wealth (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 200,000,000 20.00%
ordinary shares
BE eI (M iF2) ¥ N/NYS| EHERA 200,000,0008%
LB

Sino Sea (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 95,000,000 9.5%
ordinary shares
EFPE(M72) PN/ EnEEA 95,000,000 %
gl

Giant Blessing (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 80,000,000 8.0%
ordinary shares
SRRIR (fat2) PN EmEAA 80,000,000%
LAk

Ms. Lee Wai Bing (Note 3)  the Company Interest of spouse 375,000,000 37.50%

FEKL L (BaE3)

ZAN/N

FCiBiE s

ordinary shares
375,000,000/%
i
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Notes:

1. Each of United East and Universal Tycoon is wholly owned by Mr. Lin
Tsz Fung. Under the SFO, Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is deemed to be interested
in the same number of shares held by United East and Universal Tycoon
respectively.

2. Each of Sea Wealth, Sino Sea and Giant Blessing is wholly owned by
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan. Under the SFO, Ms. Hui Ngai Fan is deemed to be
interested in the same number of shares held by Sea Wealth, Sino Sea and
Giant Blessing respectively.

3. Ms. Lee Wai Bing is the spouse of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung. Under the SFO, Ms. Lee
Wai Bing is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is interested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the scheme as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year
ended 31 March 2020 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. As at
the date of this report, no share option has been granted under

the Share Option Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the financial
year under review.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 December 2018, the Company adopted a share option

scheme (“Share Option Scheme”). Details of the Share Option

Scheme are set out below:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

(b)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable

the Group to grant options to selected participants as

incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors (including a duly authorised committee

thereof) may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person

belonging to any of the following classes of participants

("Eligible Participants”), to take up options to subscribe

for shares of the Company (“Shares”):

V)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries (“Subsidiaries”) or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest
("Eligible Employee”);

any directors (including independent non-executive
directors of the Company), any Subsidiary or any

Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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(c)

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any other group or classes of participants who
have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
options may be granted to any company wholly owned by
one or more Eligible Participants.

Maximum number of Shares

(i) the maximum number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme adopted by the Group shall not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue from time to time;

(ii) the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group) to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on 11
January 2019 i.e. the Listing Date (i.e. not exceeding
100,000,000 Shares) (the “General Scheme Limit"),
provided that:

(c)
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(aa) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without

prejudice to paragraph (bb) below, the Company
may issue a circular to its Shareholders and seek
approval of its Shareholders in general meeting
to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided
that the total number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option Scheme of the Group
must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of approval of the limit, and for
the purpose of calculating the limit, options
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
or exercised in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group will not be counted. The
circular sent by the Company to its Shareholders
shall contain, among other information, the
information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of
the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

(bb) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without

prejudice to paragraph (aa) above, our Company
may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond
the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable,
the refreshed limit referred to in paragraph
(aa) above to Eligible Participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval
is sought. In such event, our Company must
send a circular to its Shareholders containing a
generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted,
the purpose of granting options to the specified
participants with an explanation as to how
the terms of the options serve such purpose
and such other information required under
Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the
disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules.
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(d)

(e)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being.
Where any further grant of options to a grantee under the
Share Option Scheme would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted to such person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant must
be separately approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining
from voting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders and the circular must disclose the identity
of the grantee, the number and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d)
of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required under
Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules. The number and terms
(including the exercise price) of options to be granted
to such participant must be fixed before Shareholders’
approval and the date of board meeting for proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant
for the purpose of calculating the exercise price under the
Listing Rules.

Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period

of 10 years commenced on the adoption date, i.e. 18
December 2018.
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(f)

(9)

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, which period may commence on the date on
which the offer for the grant of option is made but shall
end in any event not later than 10 years from the date on
which the offer for the grant of option is made subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless
otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme
for the holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for
the option

The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the absolute discretion of
the Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
on which the offer for the grant of option is made, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
for the five business days immediately preceding the date
on which the offer for the grant of option is made; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the

Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata

basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold

or redeemed any of the Company’s listed Shares during the
financial year under review.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as of 31 March 2020 are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Details of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out in
of the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 30 of this report.

the section “Employees and Remuneration Policies”

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Due to the nature of the retail business of the Group, for
the year ended 31 March 2020, walk-in customers from the
general public are the major customers.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount
of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 24.1% of the Group’s purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 6.9% of the Group's purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates nor
any shareholder (who or which to the best knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company) has any interest in the top five customers and
top five suppliers of the Group during the financial year under
review.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to
the Company, and so far as the Directors are aware of, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS” AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2020, save for Mr. Lin Tsz Fung who is also
the chairman and chief executive officer of other retail stores
in Hong Kong principally engaged in the sales of footwear
and lifestyle products as disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 28 December 2018, none of the Directors and
substantial shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries,
or their respective close associate, had interests in businesses
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules. Given the overall nature of such retail products of
Mr. Lin’s other business are substantially different from the
principal products of the Company i.e. prepackaged leisure
food, the Directors are of the view that the competition
between such retail businesses of Mr. Lin and the Group is
relatively minimal and remote.

DEED OF NON- COMPETITION

Each of Mr.
confirmed to the Company of their full compliance with the

Lin Tsz Fung and Ms. Hui Ngai Fan has
non-competition undertakings and other terms provided to
the Company under the deed of non-competition dated 27
December 2018 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the status of compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition
and confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of
Non-Competition have been complied with and duly enforced
during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to date of this
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions for the
benefit of the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided according to the Articles of Associations and the
Company has maintained the directors and officers liability
insurance in respect of potential liability and costs associated
with any legal proceedings which may be brought against the
Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the financial year under review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction which
needed to be disclosed as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules.

On 21 March 2019, CIAO International Limited (”Ciao
International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as tenant), entered into a renewal tenancy agreement
("Renewal Belcher's Street Tenancy Agreement”) with
Giant Fame Corporation Limited (“Giant Fame"”) (as landlord)
in relation to the property located at Shop F, Ground
Floor, Kam Tong Building, 139-153 Belcher’s Street, Hong
Kong (“Belcher’s Street Property”) for a term of 3 years
commenced from 1 April 2019 and expiring on 31 March 2022
(both days inclusive) at a fixed monthly rent of HK$80,000
(“Fixed Monthly Rent”) (exclusive of government rent, rates,
management fees or charges and air-conditioning charges and
other outgoings).
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Further, on 3 March 2020, Ciao International (as tenant)
entered into another renewal tenancy agreement (“Renewal
Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement”) with Smart Essence
Development Limited (“Smart Essence”) (as landlord) in
relation to the property located at Shop Nos.2 and 3, Ground
Floor, Commercial Areas of Commercial/Car Park Block within
the Commercial/Car Park Accommodation (also known as Noble
Square (Wah Kwai Shopping Centre)), Wah Kwai Estate, No.3
Wah Kwai Road, Hong Kong (“Wah Kwai Property”) for a
term of 3 years commenced from 8 March 2020 and expiring
on 7 March 2023 (both days inclusive), at (i) monthly base
rent of HK$31,500 (“Fixed Base Rent”); and (ii) a turnover
rent of 10% monthly gross receipts exceeding the Fixed Base
Rent (“Variable Turnover Rent”), exclusive of government
rates, management charge, air-conditioning charge and other
outgoings and inclusive of government rent.

As (i) all of the issued shares of Giant Fame are wholly-owned
by Mr Lin Tsz Fung, a controlling shareholder of the Company
and an executive Director; (ii) all of the issued shares of Smart
Essence are wholly-owned by Sura Magic International Limited
(“Sura Magic”), which issued shares are, in turn, owned as
to 50% by Mr Lin Tsz Fung and as to 50% by an independent
third party; and (iii) Lin Tsz Fung is also the sole director of
Giant Fame and Smart Essence and one of the directors of Sura
Magic, each of Giant Fame and Smart Essence is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Hence, the
transactions contemplated under the Renewal Belcher’s Street
Tenancy Agreement and the Renewal Wah Kwai Tenancy
Agreement (collectively “Renewal Tenancy Agreements”),
the payment of Fixed Monthly Rent under the Renewal
Belcher’s Street Tenancy Agreement and the payment of Fixed
Base Rent under the Renewal Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement
are regarded as one-off connected transactions, whereas the
payment of the Variable Turnover Rent under the Renewal
Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement is regarded as a continuing
connected transaction under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules.
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Given that the Renewal Belcher’s Street Tenancy Agreement
and the Renewal Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement were entered
into within a 12-month period and the landlords under the
Renewal Belcher’s Street Tenancy Agreement and the Renewal
Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement are connected persons, the
transactions under the Renewal Belcher’'s Street Tenancy
Agreement and the Renewal Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement
had been aggregated pursuant to Rules 14A.81 to 14A.83 of
the Listing Rules.

The annual cap proposed by the Company (“Annual Cap”) for
the payment of Variable Turnover Rent under the Renewal Wah
Kwai Tenancy Agreement is HK$1,000,000 (exclusive of the
Fixed Base Rent) for each of the year ending 31 March 2020,
2021, 2022 and 2023. Details of the terms of the Renewal
Tenancy Agreements, the connected transactions, continuing
connected transaction and the Annual Cap had been disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 3 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, rent concession had
been extended for the Fixed Monthly Rent payable under the
Renewal Belcher’s Street Tenancy Agreement and the Fixed
Base Rent payable under the Renewal Wah Kwai Tenancy
Agreement. For Belcher’'s Street Property, the Fixed Monthly
Rent was reduced to HK$65,000 for the period from 1
November 2019 to 29 February 2020, and was further reduced
to HK$55,000 for the period from 1 March 2020 to 31 March
2020. For Wah Kwai Property, the Fixed Base Rent was reduced
to HK$21,500 for the period from 1 March 2020 to 31 March
2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the total Fixed Monthly
Rent paid for Belcher’s Street Property was HK$875,000,
the total Fixed Base Rent paid for Wah Kwai Property was
HK$351,161, while the total Variable Turnover Rent paid
for Wah Kwai Property was HK$246,384. The total Variable
Turnover Rent paid for the year ended 31 March 2020 is within
the Annual Cap of HK$1,000,000.
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The Directors (including all the independent non-executive
Directors) had reviewed (i) the connected transaction under
the Renewal Belcher’'s Street Tenancy Agreement; and (ii)
the connected transaction and the continuing connected
transaction under the Renewal Wah Kwai Tenancy Agreement,
and had confirmed that such transactions were entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(¢) in accordance with the Renewal Tenancy Agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company’'s

shareholders as a whole.

BDO Limited,
engaged to report on the continuing connected transaction

the Company’s independent auditor, was

in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The independent auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transaction in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
independent auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company

A copy of the
to the Stock Exchange.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in

accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions carried out
in the ordinary course of business are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DONATIONS

The Group had made charitable or other donations of
approximately HK$207,140 during the financial year under
review.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

Details of the use of proceeds from the Share Offer is set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 29 to 30
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 32 to 33 of this report, there were no other
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year
under review have been audited by BDO Limited. A resolution
will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM of the Company to
re-appoint BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Lin Tsz Fung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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|IBDO

EEE © +852 2218 8288
{#E : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

EETHEP11158
KD 2518

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEST MART 360 HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
96 to 184, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the "Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
"Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the ”"Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B/ #% H T &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation of inventories

The Group held significant inventories as at 31 March 2020,
which comprised finished goods in respect of food and
beverage, household and personal care products. Inventories

are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Management assess the level of write-downs of inventories
required at the reporting date after considering inventory
ageing and other relevant factors. Such assessment involves
significant management judgement and estimation in
determining the value of inventories which will not be
recoverable at the reporting date.

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because inventories are significant to the consolidated
financial statements and because of the significant degree
of management judgement involved in determining the
write-down of inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Valuation of inventories (Cont’d)

Refer to Note 5 “Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty” and Note 17 “Inventories”
to the consolidated financial statements

Our response:

— obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
application of the Group’s key internal controls over the
inventory write-down assessment process;

— comparing the cost of goods with third party supplier
invoices, on a sample basis;

— selecting inventory items, on a sample basis, at the
reporting date and comparing their carrying value with
their subsequent selling prices as indicated in sales invoices
subsequent to the reporting date; and

— assessing the historical accuracy of management’s
calculation of write-downs of inventories at the end of the
previous financial year during the current financial year.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B/ #% H T &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meRmk AMEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F-FF = H=+—HILFZE

96

2020 2019
—E-FH —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Hat FET FET
Revenue PN 7 1,230,437 1,288,479
Cost of sales Fi=h=05'0/N (818,945) (854,039)
Gross profit EF 411,492 434,440
Other income and Hp A REA S,
other gains/(losses), net (E318) %8 8 5,301 (104)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAY (347,906) (298,030)
Administrative and other expenses THNMEMBE S (43,513) (57,486)
Operating profit 0 | 25,374 78,820
Finance costs B & AN 9 (11,061) (3,405)
Profit before income tax KBTS H AR A 10 14,313 75,415
Income tax expenses Fri8®i M X 12 (2,213) (15,687)
Profit and total comprehensive FERME KA
income for the year 12,100 59,728
Profit and total comprehensive NRGEE AEE R R
income attributable to owners ENER ey R
of the Company 12,100 59,728
Earnings per share attributable to RATRHEB AEIETRETN :
owners of the Company:
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E RN REE (GE) 14 1.2 7.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI R

As at 31 March 2020 R-ZFE-FHF=H=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiaF FE T FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE K&KRE 15 242,717 22,992
Deposits B 19 39,683 31,627
Deposits paid for purchase of property, BAWE WEKERHED
plant and equipment [EENE &0 19 800 712
Deferred tax assets B TEEE 21 1,496 1,312
284,696 56,643
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 17 135,755 132,839
Trade receivables B 5 WA 18 2,488 5,419
Deposits, prepayments and e BNRIER
other receivables E h pE U 508 19 41,450 35,374
Income tax recoverable A Uy B Fr S AR 9,529 -
Cash and bank balances R4 KRBT 20 215,911 277,394
405,133 451,026
Total assets WEE 689,829 507,669
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables =Y ANE 22 31,031 26,955
Accruals and other payables FEET B A I H M S ROR 22 23,563 26,391
Bank borrowings RITER 23 79,242 35,859
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 119,026 -
Income tax payable RS = 7,361
252,862 96,566
Net current assets REBEEEE 152,271 354,460
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBER 436,967 411,103
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR L 3R

As at 31 March 2020 R-ZF-ZTF=H=+—H

2020 2019
—BCEF —ET-hF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ot it FET FAET
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables T B A N E b~ 8 22 2,229 3,605
Bank borrowings RITER 23 20,300 37,916
Lease liabilities HEAR 16 107,756 -
130,285 41,521
Net assets EEZE 306,682 369,582
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners ARBEEABGERES
of the Company
Share capital % 2 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves M 25 296,682 359,582
Total equity HERE R 306,682 369,582
On behalf of the Directors of the Company REARAES :
Lin Tsz Fung Hui Ngai Fan
T FRF
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
meRn BT

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L _-FF = H=+—HIIFZ
Share Share Other  Retained
capital premium reserve earnings Total
BA  BROBE HtRE REEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET FHT FHT AT
(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25)
(Hiit24)  (Bfi225)  (Wi25)
1 April 2018 i NEMA—A 93,184 93,184
Profit and total comprehensive FERNRZERGEE
income for the year - - - 59,728 59,728
Dividend to shareholders B ARRR SRR E
of a subsidiary (note 13) (B1i#13) - - - (20,000) (20,000)
Issue of shares pursuant to the REEAETRG
reorganisation (note 24(b)) (BriE24)) 20 122,594  (122,614) - -
Capitalisation issue (note 24(c)) BRCEIT (WiE24(c) 7,480 (7,480) - - -
Issue of shares upon share offer A 10 2 & 21T
(note 24(d)) (Hfz24(0)) 2,500 247,500 - - 250,000
Share issue expenses B BEITRT - (13,330) N - (13,330)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-Z—-A&=A=+—8BRK
“NFMA—H 10,000 349,284 (122,614) 132,912 369,582
Profit and total comprehensive FERMEZEKRRER
income for the year - - - 12,100 12,100
Dividend paid (note 13) ERRE (H:F13) - - - (75,000) (75,000)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-TF=F=1+—H 10,000 349,284 (122,614) 70,012 306,682
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ZHREHESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=-F-FF =H=+—HIFZE

2020 2019
—BCEF —T-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &t FET FAT
Cash flow from operating activities REEXBNHEERE
Profit before income tax B P45 750 AL g A 14,313 75,415
Adjustments for: PR
Interest income from bank deposits H|ITF RFE WA 8 (3,938) (325)
Finance costs & AR 9 2,711 3,405
Losses on written-off/disposal of W/ HEME - BE R
property, plant and equipment, net RGN EEFEEE 8 2,122 776
Interest expenses from lease liabilities HEBEMNSMX 16 8,350 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMEREITE
equipment 15 123,151 11,360
Written-off of inventories WEFEE 10 9,825 5,524
156,534 96,155
Increase in inventories FEEN (12,741) (38,201)
Decrease/(increase) In trade receivables & 5 & Ut X85 4 (32 1n) 2,931 (1,178)
Increase in deposits, prepayments e ENRERK
and other receivables b K ER TR 32 N (14,132) (12,632)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e RIEIE N 4,076 8,709
(Decrease)/increase in accruals JEst & &
and other payables H b e 38 O ) /38 0 (2,294) 1,498
Cash generated from operations KERBES 134,374 54,351
Income tax paid B FTISH (19,287) (17,270)
Net cash generated from REXBHBRALEE
operating activities 115,087 37,081
Cash flows from investing activities KREXKHNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment fE AW % - = MR E (18,227) (17,265)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WELEE
plant and equipment Fr8 5k 38 19 20
Payments for reinstatement costs Y HEE K A (160) (160)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits IR ITIE FOR L 5,115 4,926
Bank interest received EERITHE 3,938 325
Net cash used in investing activities REEXKFTARELFE (9.315) (12,154)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ZHREHESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_—ZF_-FF=H=+—HIF/E

2020 2019
et St 35 —E-AF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &t TET FAT
Cash flows from financing activities BMEXKHNRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares upon AR B EmmEErT
share offer % 17 89 BT 15 3R 18 = 250,000
Share issue expenses R EITHZ = (13,330)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITE KRB RIA 99,983 281,655
Repayments of bank borrowings BIRIBITIER (74,216) (275,435)
Repayment of principal portion EBEHEaELrAESHY
of the lease liabilities (101,781) -
Interest paid BATFE (11,126) (3,306)
Dividend paid to shareholders E BRI RE TR E
of a subsidiary - (20,000)
Dividend paid to owners of the Company B HARATHEGAINEE 13 (75,000) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEXK (FrA), e
financing activities RE&FHE (162,140) 219,584
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReERBRELEEEE
and cash equivalents C-IVE: §iib-3 - (56,368) 244,511
Cash and cash equivalents at FHNEReRESEEER
beginning of year 272,279 27,768
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRESEEER
at end of year 215,911 272,279
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FFEZA=1—HIFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

GENERAL

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands on 24 January 2018. The address
of the Company’'s registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is 14/F., SML Tower, 165 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in retailing of food and beverage,
household and personal care products under the “Best
Mart 360° (f8f360°)" brand stores in Hong Kong and
The Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors of the Company on 24 June 2020.

—REE

BE360ERBERAF ([ARF R _-F
—N\F-RAZTHERERAEHEEAES
R2BLREVE) (—NR—FE3REFE
Ripakigid) EREHETMR T RE
HMEBRATF - AR M EE M
#Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands - MERBEN T ZLEEMWE BE
BB G AEE1655SMLAE 1442 -

KRR A —BREERAR  EE AR
(GBI AEB DI EKBETER
JRPIRRITTIRE ([JRFT]) [Best Mart 360°
(Bm360°) ] M EMETR M RAKR -
REMOAERERZSE -

BE_Z_TF=-A=1T—HILFENELK
/\Eﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁaﬁf\_?_zi/\ﬁ ‘HT_EIE
BARANRZESGHELRETIE -

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited # ®360ZE R ER 2 7
Annual Report 2019/2020 FE %



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") has issued a number of new
or amended HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group:

HKFRS 16, Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment Features
and Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 16, HKAS 12
and HKAS 23 included in Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases
("HKFRS 16") have been summarised below. The
other new or amended HKFRSs that are effective
from 1 April 2019 did not have any significant
impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

2.

BB BYBREEL (B
wEEL D)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
A-Z2-hFOA-BEXK

EERHALE (EERHHAR])
Wit T HEH TR RN
sp] ERAEEHAGHBHY
R

o FHRMBMEELERE 165 HE
e ZRE(BRVBHREREZE
g)— REE23% - AENEE

R H

s EBEAMBMELAFEISRER
A - BB RFREE A E R

#
o FHAEGHEMEIREFTA 7

BERT R HEE

o FHRMBBMEEN_ZT-—LFE
T BYNFENERE
P EY & B B R 3R RIS 35RAE
RN BAPBmEERFE 165
ERTAR - BB T ERE125RE
FRIARB B GRERFE23RER]
N

RaE BT B HmELERF165RM
SE([BEVHBRELERE165%])
VREBMMT - B-F—hF
mMA—BREERREAMHE] RAE
BRI EBM B mEEREAEE
S BRLBEMEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective

1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in
accounting treatment for lease accounting,
primarily for accounting for lessees. It replaces
HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 17"), HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases-Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
From a lessee’s perspective, almost all leases are
recognised in the statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, with
the narrow exception to this principle for leases
which the underlying assets are of low-value
or are determined as short-term leases. From a
lessor’s perspective, the accounting treatment
is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. For
details of HKFRS 16 regarding its new definition
of a lease, its impact on the Group’s accounting
policies and the transition method adopted by
the Group as allowed under HKFRS 16, please
refer to section (ii) to (iv) of this note.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the
cumulative effect approach and recognised
all the cumulative effect of initially applying
HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at the date of
initial application. The comparative information
presented in 2019 has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17
and related interpretations as allowed by the
transition provision in HKFRS 16.

2. RNEBYBHEER ([EBHB
HEER D (F)

(a) RAHAT RETERUBHREE

Al—

(i)

“E-AFNRA-BERE)

RAWE BB EER 16519

E/
=

BB HREEF16REEE
SN EFTREEHERNENR -
FERAMANSRELH -
HERBBGTERE1757E
E([BBGTENE17R]) - &
(AU BREREZES) -
REFIGETLRHEREERSH
E([&5 (ERHERERER
Be)-RnEBEISR]) BB (CE
AlZEZEE) ZEBFEISHRL
EHE-ERELREB(CELRE
ZEES)-REF2IRIES M
HELEFARSHNAR - L&
MAAEMmMS  BAIHEEY
PRI RRAERBEREE

BESERWEE &G HEERN
MEE DB RS PISME R
She REHBABEME @ Bt
BEFEGERF17HRAZAM
Rl - BRAZBMHREENE16
HMUBENTER HUAKH
SRRRNTERARERES
B BHREENFE165RE TR
AFRMH BB ENFE B2
B A P LG Z (iv) ©

AEEERBRATELIERE
BB REERE 165 - LHLE
RIERBE B BRE LR E 1657
BFAE R ERR R —BHEE
IRFEFR B B B V)R B8 gt 1 4 B
MAEAE R-ZT—-NFRIM
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BEFERE 17 MRIEREM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMEBUBHREER ([FBIE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d) WEHER ) (&)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
B-ZZ2-hFOA-BER#E)

(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Cont'd) (i) FRAEEBHBHREEREI65H
HE(E)

The following tables summarised the impact

of transition to HKFRS 16 on consolidated A6 EHE—T—NF=A

statement of financial position as of 31 March —t+—HEHZE_ZE—NLFWNA

2019 to that of 1 April 2019 as follows: — B BRARNZER
B

TREBIEREF BV REE

HK$'000
TAT

Consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 April 2019
Right-of-use assets presented in property,

R-FE-AFHA—AH
HE B MR &
K% BEMRETZ25H

plant and equipment EREEE 156,474
Leasehold improvements presented R - BERRETZ7
in property, plant and equipment HHEMEEE (1,089)
Accruals and other payables (non-current) EEtE R N HE A ENFRIE
(FEmeEh) (1,463)
Accruals and other payables (current) FEztEBRNREMENZIE GRE)) (1,241)
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEAE GERE) 83,046
Lease liabilities (current) HEAE (RE) 75,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #%Z - L -F# = H=+—HIFZ

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective

mw
d:
m

&
#E

B BmEER ((FBMB
&)

(a) MK RETERUBREE

1 April 2019 (Cont'd) Al-—EB-hEMA—-BEX#E)
(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Cont'd) (i) FRAEEBHBHREERFEI65
HE(E)
The following reconciliation explains how NTHEREMETR_Z—hF=
the operating lease commitments disclosed A=t—HE&RHEREEE:
applying HKAS 17 at 31 March 2019 could be AR 175 P FR B A8 B A A
reconciled to the lease liabilities at the date of BN ERERBRHRR_E
initial application recognised in the consolidated —NFHA—-—BOEEHBHRR
statement of financial position as at 1 April KA ERANEESBETYHE
2019:
HK$'000
FAT
Reconciliation of operating lease HEHERIEHHESENE K
commitments to lease liabilities
Operating lease commitments RZE-NF=ZA=T—AWMKZ
as of 31 March 2019 THE AR 182,742
Less: short term leases for which lease terms & : FAHIZ T -_ZTHF=H
end before 31 March 2020 =+ —HAIERNEHEE (19,020)
Less: future interest expenses L ARRF B (5,633)
Total lease liabilities as of 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFMHA—AHK
HEBEEE 158,089

The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 April 2019 is 3.44%.

RN _ZT—NFNA—HNEGE
MR AR EANEE
BEMEBAMNETEIEEER
FIR 53.44% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

BB BYBREEL (B

HEER D (E)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
B-ZZ2-hFOA-BER#E)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

(i) HEHHESH

(ii) The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right
to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
A contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time when
the customer, throughout the period of use, has
both: (a) the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset and (b) the right to direct the use of the
identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, a lessee shall allocate the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, unless the lessee apply the practical
expedient which allows the lessee to elect,
by class of underlying asset, not to separate
non-lease components from lease components,
and instead account for each lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

RIEBBMBHRELERIF 1657
HEETEABE TR —BRERAGE
REE (AREE) KRN IARER
REN-—HENH—HAOH —
B - BEEPREEE B HEF
B (QEBERERCENEE
Pt SR A K BB 0 A8 7 ) 2 ) R )
Kb)EETEEHANEENEN
MRERES - RIS K TR TR 2A
R—BERAES SR AIEERN
£ -

AEEHEEKBD M —IHHIA
FRESNEE S IEHE AR D
Weaams  AEARKELDOR
Brokz=xHEAKRMY ik
HEARE DR HE B ER R
FEHEEME D AT B ER
MEBETOR @ BRIFAE AR
REREEE - AFPAHEAR
REREENER  EETERD
MEHEKE D HEIFHEEEKE
7 MRS EEEKRED RME
I FEREIETE E A E D ABRSIME
BE-HEARRBD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

(iii) Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease
as an operating lease or a finance lease based on
the extent to which risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of a lease asset lie with the lessor
or the lessee. If a lease is determined as an
operating lease, the lessee would recognise the
lease payments under the operating lease as an
expense over the lease term. The asset under the
lease would not be recognised in the statement
of financial position of the lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of
they are operating leases or finance leases) are
required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but HKFRS 16 provides accounting
policy choices for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases
and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. The Group has elected not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with
those leases have been expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability at the commencement date of a
lease.

2. RWEBYBHREED ([EBHB
HEERA D (E)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
B-ZZ2-hFOA-BER#E)

(iii) ERBABANE G EE

RIEFB ST ERE175% - &AM
AZARE A ATE A FTAYE
HEBEMAEMSHRRED
BNREE SHESEREEH
SYMEME - HHERERE
EHE - AAEABRESHEA
R EHER T HEERIEER
RAX - MEBRTHNEESTE
RAEGE AR B AR KR AR -

REBEFEVBHREENF 165 -
FreEEE (TwmeEEelEdm
EHE)HARMBIRNKEAR
ERERAEEEREERR
BEMBHRELRF IR RER
RESFBRER  AEENE
(VBREHEENHEE R, (i) E
HREEBERENHEEETE
e - REEDEETUEER
BELRNFASGBHRTHEHERD
RI2EANEERREAEEE
LREERE - BZFHERBED
HEREENEERRRERE
X e

REBREER S B BfERER
BEENHERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

RAE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d) ;-3

&

B BmEER ((FBHE
&)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
B-ZZ2-hFOA-BER#E)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

(i) EREABANEEE ()

(iii) Accounting as a lessee (Cont’d)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

The Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment loss, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability should be recognised at the
present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments shall be discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group shall use the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

EHEEE

F L ERRKAERL K
F(OWVHEAENVILTESE
(R TTXEHRHEEaEAERNE
ETBCR) ¢ (DA FA B B Z Al
EHMEMAERE  REME
WHEESE  (i)EBEAEENE
B EERA R (iv)FFE AR
T EkBRABEEZHE KK
MAGHETiR E MR 2 G E £ /Y
BETA A (BRIEZER AT BE
EFEMEERERNR) -

AN BRI A A AN R R B R R
BE - REXARA - NEER
X ASRLAE ] R 5137 88 RAERDRUE
BEFTEEREEE W EMA
EXNFENHEEAGBELHE -

HERR

HERBERRYIFNEERKA
HIX B ER AN R ERER -
AR EEHER SN X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

(iii) Accounting as a lessee (Cont’d)

Lease liability (Cont’d)

The following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable;
(i) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate initially measured using the index
or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option and (v) payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee
shall measure the lease liability by: (i) increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a
change in future lease payments arising from
change in an index or rate, a change in the lease
term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.

2. RWEBYBHREED ([EBHB
HEERA D (E)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
B-ZZ2-hFOA-BER#E)

(i) ERABANEEE ()
HERE (&)

TNIREEHARBEEENE
AEEHN BT IENEERHRM
BN RRRSHEER
B (VEEN BB UK EE
B (DERRIEHHL a9
HHEFIR (R R A RERZ
BB RENFAE) ¢ (i)
HARBHSEEERESES
TR (VB EEEENTTEE
(AR AREEEITEZRE
B MWK LBEAENT M
R (s & HI R BRAAE A TT (58
BEKILIHAE) -

REE A EE - A AT
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EARRBERBEOFE ()R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L _-FF=H=+—HILFZ

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

RAE ZB ([HBIHK
#E

&

BRI &2
all) (&)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (a) HAHE EEITEBHBBREE

1 April 2019 (Cont'd) Al-=FE—-—hEMA—-BEXR(E)
(iv) Transition (iv) BE
The Group has recognised the lease liabilities $$IE)3’A:§*%¢EH*E|
at 1 April 2019 for leases previously classified BMAREREAGETENE 17

as operating leases applying HKAS 17 and

i 2 F8 A %?ﬂfﬁ’ﬁﬁfﬂ@?ﬁfﬁ

measured those lease liabilities at the present EaE WEHNHAERENR
value of the remaining lease payments, B EZEHEAR EFEA

discounted using the lessee’s incremental

F:?—ﬂimﬂ—EW%ﬁA

borrowing rate at 1 April 2019. HEBERFEEITRIE -
The Group has elected to recognise all the AEEEEER_Z—NFMNA

right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019 for leases
previously classified operating leases under HKAS
17 as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date
of initial application. For all these right-of-use
the Group has applied HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets at 1 April 2019 to assess if

assets,

there was any impairment as on that date.

The Group has also applied the follow practical
expedients: (i) applied a single discount rate
to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics; (ii) applied the exemption of

not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease

—BRERMRIERE S ERE
17RDEREERENHERR
PRERREEE  BWAMSKA
HEBRAEEYHHmE LS
165% @ HEE AR BREM B H8
EAANEEERNREITHR -
“;“Tﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%é? P RE&
BEERAEESEE36HE
EER(E LAaﬂE%ZiJEﬁH 2 H I
B EEFRIE -

AEETCERATIERER
(VAR ABREUSHENE
EHARRAE—REBREX (V&R
Hem st HE RGN EIRER
BB —Z—hEFmA—B)®&

liabilities for leases with term that will end within 12{B A WEmHE S HRE R
12 months of the date of initial application (1 BEERMEAE UHZEHEE
April 2019) and accounted for those leases as ABRPIERBMESE  RiiNK =

short-term leases; and (iii) exclude the initial
direct costs from the measurement of the
right-of-use asset at 1 April 2019.

—NEFHUA-BFEEREEE
BT ERENFZERKA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMEBBBHRELER ([FBIE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d) WEHER ) (&)

(a) MK RETERUBREE
B-ZZ2-hFOA-BER#E)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2019 (Cont’d)

(iv) Transition (Cont’d) (iv) BE(E)

In addition, the Group has also applied the o REBNEERERER
practical expedients such that: (i) HKFRS 16 is JAMEBAE - (VLR EREE
applied to all of the Group's lease contracts that SREAFE1 TR RES (B
BHREREELZES)— 2BFER
BEr-HTHEEAREHEEMH
FIREENMEASEEESL
FERE BB ELEAE 169 &
(N TEERAIFBRBEEEGTE
AIE175% kB (BB RS
REBZEE)— REF4H MR
RBEHENESRNEREBIME

WEERIF 165 o

were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and
(ii) not to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
not previously identified as containing a lease
under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int4.

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but (b) CHEMBEHKRERNTFT, EBITE

are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's
current intention is to apply these changes on the
date they become effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale of Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material'
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions?

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current*

Amendments to HKAS 1

78 B B 8 2 A

N3P AT BE B A 5 [ B 7 R Kk A B
BEEVHTE] IR ERT BB M B M E R
ERBMERRES  BERERNEE
RERM - AEERITERZFESR]
EMEBERAARBET -

BEMBREENR TS ety
BEMBHSENE105KR PEEEtH
BRGENRBRET X PN

LEMAEHE
Eid o
BEeEAR IR EXENES

BRGTENRSRET X
BEMBRSENBIRETL  XHOER

BEMBRSEER HEEEYE
BRGENRRR

BRMBREEAETREI X
BEMBHSENEI6KETA  COVD-191ERS

AR
RS EAZREIR BENERRDH
Fng
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # %

e M BwRNEE

—ECFEZ A= —HAUFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (Cont’d)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

E No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for

early adoption

Amendments to HKFRS 3 - Definition of a
Business

The amendments clarify that a business must include,
as a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs, together with providing extensive
guidance on what is meant by a “substantive
process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of
replacing any missing inputs or processes and
continuing to produce outputs, whilst narrowing the
definition of “outputs” and a “business” to focus on
returns from selling goods and services to customers,
rather than on cost reductions.

An optional concentration test has also been added
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 - Definition
of Material

The amendments clarify the definition and
explanation of “material”, aligning the definition
across all HKFRS Standards and the Conceptual
Framework, and incorporating supporting
requirements in HKAS 1 into the definition.

There are no standards that are not yet effective and
that would be expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.

KRB BMBREE
HEER D (E)

A (T &R

(b) ERMEERERWHTKEBITE
BB EER (E)
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IR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 3. MREEE
(a) Statement of compliance (a) BFEH

The consolidated financial statements have been BEMBRERDEREBGMNAE
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, FRmE B ERE SN GEREE
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Al AEGFER (BB ]
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to k2B (UTHB AN BREE
as the "HKFRS”) issued by the HKICPA and the Bl 1) LA KRB B R BB 8 3% 55 38 7E 4R
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Bl o AN IRE MR A BB
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial ERGBRAT ([HRZA])EH L
statements include applicable disclosures required by MRAEENERBEEER -

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).
(b) Basis of measurement (b) FFTEEE
The financial statements have been prepared under WBmRTIRE LA EERR o

the historical cost basis.

(¢) Functional and presentation currency () WEERENEX
The consolidated financial statements are presented meEBmERDERBET (BT 2
in Hong Kong Dollars ("HK$"), which is also the P BRLAAARRBNINEERE - MW
functional currency of the Company and all values FTBEEERSBRAEIINGEZEEER
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when B M TR -

otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

4., BERETHEME

EBREHRREEE

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (a)

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in

which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up
to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of
assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date
fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interest that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiaries either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(Cont’d)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (1) power over the investee; (2) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee; and (3)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

4., EREFTHEME (&)

(a)

(b)

EBREHRGEEEE(E)

E R ET BRI AR EGRK
BEATERER KENRERER
ENFTEH(BREAREF&Z12
BA) AMBEKER X FEERN
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BEINIEENER -
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BREHRAEDRORRIER - K
GHENAEENFEZEAEERE -
EEENBERBR L EFEGIEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

4, ERETHEME(E)

(c) Property, plant and equipment () V¥ -BERR®E

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other costs, such
as repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost net of expected residual value
over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period. The estimated
useful lives are as follows:

ME  BERREBERABRRATE
RRZFRERBREIIE - WX BER
REBEENKABEEBEBENANS
{08 B = B E VRN AR X0 X 215E (R 36
TEHUE AR B R AR -

RA 5% 7R B AR R R B M 25
AREMANEE - H%IE B BB
ASFTER  TERREKRATAR
ENREEXERSBILEE (W@
A -WEEBONKEAESRLE
R A EMARA (Pl RRE)
DHEEELANMBRAANIEETER

WE - BFE REEREGRAIERF
MR ERORRTIRITE » UM E K
AREHARAEE - I EAFEH - F
HREERTENEZREREHRT A
el WREERRTREE - 5t
ERFHET

Leasehold Over shorter of the lease HEMERE FAEASI S (ABR
improvements term or 5 years 5B R%E)
Plant and equipment 5 years T 5 K 7% 54

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher
than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

XARBEERE 5%

WEENKREESNEMBFATRE S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 April

2019)

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases
or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of
low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see below
for the accounting policy to account for lease
liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under
the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use
assets at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group accounts for properties which are held for
own use under HKAS 16 and are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation.

4., EREFTHEME (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

4, ERETHEME(E)

d HE(B=ZE-hEWRA-—BEER

(d) Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 April

2019) (Cont'd)

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option
and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change
in the lease term, a change in the in substance
fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 April

2019) (Cont’d)

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification that
is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term
of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31
March 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred.

4., EREFTHEME (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

()

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, cost of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
Cost is calculated using first-in-first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial asset or financial liability (unless it is
a trade receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value plus,
for an item not at fair value through profit or
loss ("FVTPL"),
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade

transaction costs that are directly

receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.

(i) Financial assets

On initial recognition, the Group's financial assets
are classified as measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition, except if and in the
period the Group changes its business model for
managing financial assets.

4, ERETHEME(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERETHRUE (&)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
(f) €RITAE)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

() =HEE (&)

(i) Financial assets (Cont’d)

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if
it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:

—  the asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

The financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The amortised
cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain
control of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

4, ERETHEME(E)

() eMIA(E)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

() =HEE &)

(i) Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on the financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including
trade and other receivables and cash and bank
balances). The Group measures loss allowances
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Lifetime ECL represent the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating
ECL is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
requires the use of the lifetime expected losses
provision for all trade receivables.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERETHRUE (&)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
(f) €RITAE)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

() =HEE (&)

(i) Financial assets (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate).

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the
financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECL is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)
(i) Financial assets (Cont’d)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

4, ERETHEME(E)

() eMIA(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

4., EREFTHEME (&)

(f) €T H(EZ)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(i) Financial assets (Cont'd) (i) =HEEE)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on
a forward-looking basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer;

— a breach of contract such as a default or
past due event;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the
consolidated statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured
at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

4., EREFTHEME (&)

(f) €T H(EZ)

(f) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (i) 2HEEREZTAE)

(iii)

(Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the reporting
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate,
a shorter period.

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(9)

(h)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and in hand, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash at banks and in hand, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Provision for reinstatement costs represents the
present value of the estimated cost for the restoration
work of the Group's leased retail stores agreed to
be carried out upon the expiry of the relevant leases
using a risk-free pre-tax interest rate. The provision
has been determined by the directors based on their
best estimates. The related reinstatement costs have
been included as right-of-use assets (2019: leasehold
improvements) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h) Provision and contingent liabilities (Cont’d)

()

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Share-based payment

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
services received is measured by reference to the fair
value of the options at the date of grant. Such fair
value is recognised in profit or loss over the vesting
period with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve within equity. Non-market vesting
conditions are taken into account by adjusting the
number of equity instruments expected to vest at the
end of each reporting period so that, ultimately, the
cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period
is based on the number of options that eventually
vest. Market vesting conditions are factored into
the fair value of the options granted. As long as all
non-market vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge
is made irrespective of whether the market vesting
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is
not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting
condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the increase in the fair
value of the options, measured immediately before
and after the modification, is also recognised in profit
or loss over the remaining vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

()

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

e property, plant and equipment;
. right-of-use assets; and
e interests in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is
carried at revalued amount under another HKFRS, in
which case impairment loss is treated as revaluation
decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to
the extent that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as
revaluation increase under HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimate future cash flow
expected to be derived from the asset discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset or cash
generating unit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERETHRUE (&)
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(k) Employee benefits k) EEEA
(i) Short term employee benefits (i) EHESHEF

Short term employee benefits are employee HHEERAREENTEER
benefits (other than termination benefits) that HEBRBGHOFERSEHKRE
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve TZEAREBEZ M EERT
months after the end of the annual reporting (BEBRABFIBRAN) - RHAE B A&7
period in which the employees render the NEBIREEBREHFENE
related service. Short term employee benefits R e

are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan (i) EFEBFBIUkLEE
Contributions to defined contribution retirement FERRHFEBERSEHENER IR
plans are recognised as an expense in profit EERHERBHNERNERA
or loss when the services are rendered by the e
employees.

(iii) Termination benefits (iii) BB AEF
Termination benefits are recognised on the BERE B A AN BT BE B UH 7%
earlier of when the Group can no longer LR ENRFRAEEHER S
withdraw the offer of those benefits and R A BB AR ) A & AR B AR
when the Group recognises restructuring costs (ARFERE) R -

involving the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

V)

(m)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which they operate (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of each reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange difference arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary item carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for period
except for difference arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income,
in which case, the exchange difference are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of any
qualifying asset which require a substantial period
of time to be ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of these assets.
Income earned on temporary investments of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets
is deducted from borrowing cost capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

—FEFZA=+—HUFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(n)

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on decelerated tax
depreciation on property, plant and equipment except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

4, ERETHEME(E)

(o) Revenue recognition (o) AR
Sale of goods HEE R

The Group sell goods directly to retail customers
within retail stores/warehouse. Revenue recognised
from sale of goods to retail customers is recognised
when the product is transferred to the customers
upon sale. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately when the customers purchase the good.
The payment is usually settled in cash or using credit
cards, octopus card and Alipay online platform.

Discounts, coupons and other cash incentive to
customers are accounted for as reduction of the
transactions prices.

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where
retail customers accumulate points for purchases
made which entitle them to redeem award points for
discounts in future purchases. The transaction price
is allocated to the product and the award points on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue from
the award points is recognised when the award points
are redeemed. Contract liabilities are recognised until
the award points are redeemed. Contract liabilities in
relation to customer loyalty programme were included
in “Accruals and other payables”.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

—FEFZA=+—HUFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p)

(a)

Government grant

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions. Government grants
relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.

Financial guarantee

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value. The fair
value of a financial guarantee contract is the present
value of the difference between the net contractual
cash flows required under a debt instrument, and
the net contractual cash flows that would have been
required without the guarantee. The present value is
calculated using a risk free rate of interest.

At the end of each subsequent reporting period
financial guarantees are measured at the higher of

—  the amount of the loss allowance; and

—  the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation, where appropriate.

The amount of the loss allowance at each subsequent
reporting period initially equal to 12-month ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial guarantee (Cont’d)
However, where there has been a significant increase
in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract, the calculation is for lifetime ECL.
Expected credit losses for a financial guarantee
contract are the cash shortfalls adjusted by the risks
that are specific to the cash flows.

Cash shortfalls are the difference between:

—  the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs; and

- any amount that an entity expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

(r) Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #t % — FF=HA=4—HIFFEF

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERETHRUE (&)
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(r) Related parties (Cont'd) (r) BAER(Z)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) ?—?E\LATET—HM#EUK% gt
following conditions apply: NEEBRE

() The entity and the Group are members of () EBEREAEBRLSR—SEN
the same group (which means that each KB (AR RE - M
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is MRAZWBARSEEEEH
related to the others); )

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture iy —ERBASBEBHNEBELQ
of the other entity (or an associate or joint AEERE (A —KE
venture of a member of a group of which RKEMEEQRNE & D
the other entity is a member); ¥ ME—EBREPHK

8):

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MEBHAR-—F=F04
third party; B

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity (ivy " ERAR—¥=F7EENE
and the other entity is an associate of the BEhE ME—ERBAZE
third entity; —HEENBEAR

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit () ZEBEALEEEENA
plan for the benefit of the employees of the K%lﬁ%ﬁ@mféﬁ%mﬁﬁ
Group or an entity related to the Group; i &% &) B B 1R B A AT &

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (vi) ZEBX(PTEALESE
by a person identified in (a); HEES

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) @Q)FTIEALTHZEREHES
influence over the entity or is a member of BEREENNXRZ E (sk
key management personnel of the entity (or ZEBNBERRNEEE
of a parent of the entity); or BEKE 3

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of (vii) ZE BB EE M
which it is a part, provides key management KB RAEESAEREEGR
personnel services to the Group or to the AREFEEEABRE -

parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(r)

(s)

Related parties (Cont’d)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner,

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the
executive directors for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group’s business components
and for their review of the performance of those
components. The business components in the internal
financial information reported to the executive
directors are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSs, except interest income,
unallocated finance costs, and unallocated corporate
expenses, which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment, are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the

operating segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.

4. EX

(r)

(s)

SETERBE (E)

BEH (&)
FATHORKOBREEEHAA %
BREGRE  ERTYE
m%ﬁﬁ CH B

mapicl
HZF

./,
4

iz ,m]

(i) ZBEALHWFLRLEBHEEH
&

(i) ZBATHWEBRRFREHENHF
7k

(i) ZBALTHZBATHRBELF
EHEEZEA -

BEBEHE

AEBRBEEHASHITEFERD

NEMBER  BELEDMARH
DEEH  UWERTEERAEES
EBEARD AN ERDEAMERTE » A
RHEEEMNZEEKR D BHKRE -
RAMITESZERNANLT K EFRH
WEBEXRDBLHERBEAEBHTE
Em M IREHEE -

AEBREBERBYHHREERIFIHRH

BEDEXEMRBHTERE - &
HiRBE BV BHRELENRROI G
WEPMRAEMER - HEFEWA R
DEBMEKRARRDECEFRX (%
FEA REREEDMNEEEBL
BEEHERR) TESFALED HBNE

WEE P RE DR RBIEHWOR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the financial statements of the Group
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of each reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability
affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
each reporting period, which have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below. The Group based its assumptions and
estimates on parameters available when the consolidation
financial statements were prepared. However, existing
circumstances and assumptions about future developments
may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful life and residual value of an
item of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to
consider various factors, such as technical or commercial
obsolescence arising from changes or improvement in
production, or from a change in the market demand for
the products or service output of the asset, expected
usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the
care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar
limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful
life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group
with similar assets that are used in similar way. The Group
will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.

ERGFHERMETFTTIREREN
EFBERIR

ERBEAEENTBERR L BEEAR
= E BRAE A E - A R BRR B
TEBRA HAX BEHAENZREE
URRABENRBEAS - A BxF
BRRETEBANTHETEERFROER
AEEREHARARMEAH X T EEES
BEMNE@EFLRERHE -

TXHARERERRSIRRENEER
REEMAF I EERERNTEZRER K
BAREARR EREERABEREE
RTEMBFEHRERFE - DR
BMBHRRE  AEEREEEL2E8UEL
HTE““)SUE.# AW BRATREREFER
BREEBIM MBI BER - WERK
%’EFEF@E’JDHUI ARBRLIEEE B
RESHSERLERRRERRKT -

ME - BERREN LR FHRRHRE
=1

REEME BEMRBEBOAERF
HERBEER AEEAZRETRERA
EZ o PImEEESCKBRIATSEHE
FE FfT ¥ 1 Y E O =R AR 7 O 78 SR 2 1 51 B
MRS EXBR  EENESRE &
YR ERE BEMNEERREARER
BERAEEIELRS - EEMA £ B
FHNERASERUAENEAUEE
PRSAERRME L fhaT - WA ERFHE Y
AIfAFT B R AEEBERFTEX L - =&
85 SR MURL 2 DREE S B B BT B B 3F
REGEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based
on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount
involves judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of
inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the period
in which such estimate has been changed.

Impairment loss for non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether non-financial assets suffered any impairment in
accordance with accounting policy stated in note 4(j).
The non-financial assets are reviewed for the impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The determination of recoverable
amount requires an estimation of future cash flows and
the selection of appropriate discount rates. Changes in
these estimates could have a significant impact on the
carrying value of the assets and could result in additional
impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future
periods, where applicable.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will affect the
income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which
such determination is made.

ERGFHERMETFTTIREREN
FTERR (&)

HEFERE

WIHTFEREIDRIETFERRE LG
B FEFE o A BB KA MG
e MBARERGERARBMAET TR A
MERKTEGtEENRNTFEREE
REHE R BE -

FEMEERESR

RS B % R HA R AR 98 M S 4G) P # 0
SRR EREER D E MR
B LEEHHBRBLLBTEENKRE
BERLEAIREEHE  FeREEBIER
BRs - AEE AT WE S8 L AffFHR
KREREREBHEENURE - ZFMH
SHmEE - HAge HEEREEEKER
FE YA BBCRAME L RBINRES
SR ERE (BBERME)

Frig®t

REBEEGNTBAEN - REEMEH
BREBSAFLERHE REFEBABRE
FRERGRFENRERBEREAR
THEE - AEBEREARBEERERNE S
TR B EHMNBEINIRETER A ET TR
BE - M&xEFFENRKKRBGERRNS
CHREBETR  EHEZESTEFLAR
TIRRE A BT S 08 S R A B TR B -

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited € R 360Z R B R 2 &

Annual Report 2019/2020 FE %

141



142

—FEFZA=+—HUFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Provision of reinstatement costs of retail stores and
offices

Most of the Group’s retail stores are leased under
operating lease and are subject to reinstatement obligation
as stipulated in the lease agreements. Management
assesses the amount of provision made for each store
and offices based on various factors, including the size
of the store and offices, the complexity of refurbishment
and specific requirements from landlords. The Group's
management assesses the adequacy of such provision at
the end of each reporting period. As at 31 March 2020,
the carrying amount of such provision was approximately
HK$2,929,000.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the
Group operates one reportable and operating segment
which is the retailing sales of food and beverage,
household and personal care products under the “Best
Mart 360° (f85360°)" brand stores in Hong Kong and
Macau. The Group determines its operating segment
based on information reported to executive directors
of the Company who are also the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to make strategic decisions.
Accordingly, the Group does not present separately
segment information.

Geographical segment

The Group’s geographical segments are based on the
location of the Group’s assets. Revenue to external
customers disclosed in geographical segments are based
on the geographical location of its customers.

ERGFHERMETFTTIREREN
FTERR (&)

ZEERRPRENEERLEE

AEBRZHTEERDIRBELEHRE
MA - WEAEMEHRMBENEER
T -EREREZBERRIGHSERRL
MAZFENEERE  BREAERIAE
AN -BFNEMEEEREEINETE
Ko AEBMERBNSMEHRTHEHA
BERESRR RZZEZZTEF=A=1+—
H  BHEEENIREMELA2929,000%

JG ©

S
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o =}
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3

—EZFR=ZZ—NF=A
s Eﬁifw AEBE—ETHRE
g E - HAEEE KEPI[Best Mart
360° (B f2360°) | M K2 JE 4638 77 R M A 8k
BCREMANERERTEER - A&
EREAAAFTNITES (TAXTELE
REE)ERNEANELRBRENE
HETHELES M - Bt AEEBWLES
25D EE R o

1518
@t

1 12 73 &P
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Geographical segment (Cont’d)

The following table presents revenue and certain
non-current assets information regarding the Group's
geographical segments as at and for the years ended 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019.

DEER (&)
o 38,55 88 (4)

TRETIR_ZEZZEF=A=+T—HE=
T NFZA=ZT—HUREZZEHH
IEFEHAREE MG S BOWA RS TIE
MBEEER -

Hong Kong Macau Total
g P et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAETT FET FATT
31 March 2020 —E-EF=A=+—H
Revenue ON 1,223,778 6,659 1,230,437
Non-current assets* EREEE 228,674 14,043 242,717
31 March 2019 —E-hE=ZA=+—H
Revenue PN 1,288,479 - 1,288,479
Non-current assets* EREBEE 22,992 - 22,992

* Excludes deposits and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Since none of the Group’s sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil), no
information about major customers in accordance with
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is presented.

* TEERERELERALE -

THIERENER

HRAEERE -BENHEMBEARE
EBE_ZT_TF=-A=+—HILFEXN
WABBEI0%HA L (ZF—NEF &)
B ELREBVHREERERLE
DHMEINEBIEBEENEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

7. REVENUE 7. WA
The Group principally engages in retailing of food and REEEE2READE KR Best Mart
beverage, household and personal care products under the 360° (8 m360°) | B EHE TR @AM
“Best Mart 360° (f254360°)" brand stores in Hong Kong B REMEAZEREERZTENER - X
and Macau. All revenue of the Group is recognised at a SEMBWRAHNEERERER -
point in time.
Revenue from the Group’s principal activities during the FA - AREEXTZEBOHRALT :
year is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Revenue from I PR JR
Retailing sales =€ 1,235,175 1,292,552
Less: Sales discounts B EETTH (4,738) (4,073)
1,230,437 1,288,479
8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER 8. Hihlh ARHAbWE  (EE) F58
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET
2020 2019
—E-EE —ZT-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Interest income from bank deposits RATEFRAEWA 3,938 325
Losses on written-off/disposal of s HEME - BER
property, plant and equipment, net BRI E IR R R (2,122) (776)
Compensation from termination of S WAL
a lease agreement mMESKEES - 316
Promotion income R A 195 -
Government grant B 4 B 3,000 -
Others H A 290 31
5,301 (104)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

10.

FINANCE COSTS

9. BMEMAK

2020 2019
—E-EF —NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FET

Interest expenses on bank overdrafts and $R77:#% X & (& 8 ) B B &2
borrowings 2,711 3,405
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABENAERY 8,350 -
11,061 3,405

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

10. BR T 1§ B A& A

B P45 B BT&E A DB (GEA) T 3I1%&

17
2020 2019
—EZEF —ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11(a)) EENE (HaE11(a) 1,476 641
Staff costs: B IR :
- Wages, salaries and other benefits —TITE HEeRHEMER 129,118 114,311
— Contributions to defined contribution — FRHEEFENRS TSI
pension plans 5,855 5,062
Depreciation of property, ME  BELREEBEITE
plant and equipment 123,151 11,360
Auditor’s remuneration % SR B & 780 780
Exchange differences, net ME W =R F 5 (68) 1,490
Listing expenses EmRAX - 18,285
Cost of inventories recognised WRERINFERAR
as expenses 818,945 854,039
Written-off of inventories W%ﬁr‘“ 9,825 5,524
Service expenses for using the operating {3 & & & & & i 7Y
facilities of warehouse Hﬁi‘%ﬁﬁi 13,980 12,555
Operating lease payments in respect of ERZEEHMRAED
retail stores and office WERE IR
— Short-term lease expenses -~ RHHEERX 30,080 -
— Minimum lease payments —HRIEHEERIE = 110,517
— Contingent rents —HAEE 7,328 11,508
37,408 122,025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

11. DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the directors for the years is set
out below:

M. ESHFHRAEERESFTMAL

(a) EEFHM

AEREEFOFHMHEIIOT

Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other  contribution

Fees benefits pension plans Total
EEMER
ek Bike
ik HiER TEIMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER TERT
Year ended 31 March 2020 HZ-Z-Zf
ZA=t-BLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (“Mr. Lin") — #RF &L ([HEE]) - 360 18 378
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan ("Ms. Hui")  #F&& &+ ([FaL]) - 360 18 378
Independent Non-Executive BUHHTEE
directors
Mr. Sze Irons (note) e IE LA (H15T) 240 = = 240
Ms. Choy So Yuk (note) BxEut (M) 240 = = 240
Mr. Lee Ka Lun (note) ERBEE(WiT) 240 = = 240
720 720 36 1,476
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR S

For the year ended 31 March 2020 %éi_y_gff —HIFFE
11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE M. ESFHRABERSHFMAL(Z)

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Cont’d) (a) ESHM(ZE)
Contributions

Salaries to defined
and other contribution

Fees benefits  pension plans Total
EEER
Hek Rike
e HiigH SRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET TET
Year ended 31 March 2019 EHZ=-Z-N&
ZR=t-HL%FE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Lin W - 80 4 84
Ms. Hui L - 390 5 395
Independent Non-Executive BUHHTEE
directors
Mr. Sze Irons (note) MR 5 & (M aF) 54 - - 54
Ms. Choy So Yuk (note) BEI LT (HiE) 54 - - 54
Mr. Lee Ka Lun (note) FRETE W) 54 - - >4
162 470 9 641
Notes: et -
Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. Choy So Yuk and Mr. Lee Ka Lun were appointed EESE BEFLITREIZRBLEER_-Z
on 18 December 2018. —NFTZATN\BEZEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #%Z - L -F# = H=+—HIFZ

11. DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)

M. ESHFMREERSHMAL (&)

(b) Five highest-paid individuals (b) EEESEHFMAL

The five highest-paid individuals of the Group
included nil directors for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: Nil), whose emoluments are included
in Note 11(a) above. The emoluments of remaining
5 highest-paid individuals for the year are set out
below:

BE-_ZT_FTHE-A=1+—HL*#F
B AEENERGSFMALERE
ZREE(CT-NF:TR) B
ERN EXMEI1@FRLH - AFE
BTsRmREFMA OB M
-

2020 2019

—E_EF —ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Salaries and other benefits HahEMER 5,629 4,613
Contributions to defined ERMHFRKSEEIHR

contribution pension plans 86 86

5,715 4,699

BENME T T EE -

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

2020 2019

—EZEH —ZT-NEF

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 4
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 L&

2,000,0007% 7T 3 1

5 5

@I—?—fﬂz&—v jlgzﬂ
=t—HLEFEAR SBEESNEM

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no

directors or any of the highest-paid individuals waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments. No emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors or any of
the highest-paid individuals of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

rﬁ#ﬁ@ﬂAiE&ﬁEﬁlﬂ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬂ

CAKBEYEXNMETAKEE
%i&ﬁ%%%ﬁ@ﬂ/\i ARSI 1R
FMARE B HR AL BB H) 3],
X R RBERAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L _-FF=H=+—HILFZ

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12. FRERHX
The income tax expenses in the consolidated statement of FRFeERREME2EKGZEANRAE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the TRF';EJS‘Z#',

year represents:

2020 2019
—E-2F —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Current income tax BVEA PR 15 35
— Tax for the year —FEHIE 2,484 16,307
— Over-provision in respect of prior year — — 3@k & /5 B EE & 5 (87) (56)
2,397 16,251
Deferred income tax (Note 21) BIEFTSRL (K7 a221) (184) (564)
Income tax expenses FriS % 2 2,213 15,687
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands ARAIRBHASHSREAERES ST
as an exempted company with limited liability under the fit Bk i B A %ﬁﬁﬁ B WA BAM
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is not MFEAESHSFTEH -
subject to income tax in the Cayman Islands.
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at 8.25% on the HE-_ZT-F ¢)§i_ EZ-NF=ZA=+—
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and HIEFE - %C/%ﬂ SHIORE2EEB TN
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 5t B sR 504 7l A8.25% HY i & LA K Bt #8
million for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. B2 8 BB TR EERTUE F JA16.5%#
BERGHR
Macau Complementary Income Tax (“MCIT”) has been RPIFS R (DRPIFTISWIEE ) 5t
provided at the progressive rate on the estimated 1$uffu%fﬂxmf'JLX§5E$R AR BHE
assessable profits. No provision of MCIT has been made as T_TE-—A-+-—AILEE mRAE
the Group has no assessable profits for MCIT for the year Ilﬁﬁ‘ Eﬁ/ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁg’fﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ?%%ﬁm
ended 31 March 2020. Ao I EERPIPTS M B LFTR -
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to AFEMEHRA I EGRERERAME
the profit before income tax in the consolidated statement M s = AR TS B AT M B BR DT -
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:
2020 2019
—E-EE —ZET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
Profit before income tax R P15 354 B 4 A1 14,313 75,415
Tax on profit before income tax, LER BT IS AT i B 1%
calculated at the applicable Hong Kong & & RS R i Kt & &)
profits tax rates FiIE 2,197 12,278
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiary Z—Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ?&%@@ S B
operating in other jurisdiction NAHETR B E 205 -
Tax effect of non-taxable income /,\p%ﬁqﬁl?\ﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁ%%%‘ (553) (11)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses T—ITD ARG E 257 3,173
Tax effect of temporary difference not AERGFEZHOMBTE
recognised 107 247
Income tax expenses FriS % B 2 2,213 15,687
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

13. DIVIDENDS

13. K&

2020 2019

—EC2F —T-AF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FHET

Proposed final dividend Frd s e R AR B = 60,000
Final dividend in respect of previous FESBREENRBARE -

financial year, approved and A L IR 1

paid during the year 60,000 -

Interim dividend declared and paid B & K 307 & 1 89 P BB B 15,000 -~

75,000 -

On 14 December 2018, Quality Food 360° (Holdings)
Limited (“Quality Food 360°"”) declared interim dividends
of HK$20,000,000. Such dividend was paid to the then
shareholders of Quality Food 360° during the year ended

31 March 2019.

On 7 August 2019, a final dividend of HK6.0 cents per
share for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approved by
the Company’s shareholders (“2019 Final Dividend”). The
2019 Final Dividend of HK$60,000,000 was paid during

the year ended 31 March 2020.

On 27 November 2019, the Board has resolved to pay an
interim dividend of HK1.5 cents per share. The interim
dividend of HK$15,000,000 in total was paid during the

year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment

of final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the
Company for the year is calculated based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$12,100,000
(2019: HK$59,728,000) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 (2019: 804,794,521)
in issue. The Company did not have any potential dilutive
shares for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share are the same

as the basic earnings per share.

14.

R-_ZE—NE+-A+MNAB - E5H360°
Rm(EE) BRAR ([EH360° RE])
Tk A HIA% B.20,000,000/8 7T © 2 FE LB
EREE-_E-NAE=A=+—RHILFEE
RS FEMR360° RaMERARE -

RZZE—hENALtH BHE-_Z—h#F
—A=+T—HBLEFENKRAREFTR6.0
BILERRRKREE ([ HLEX
HRE] - REZE-T_TF=A=+—
HEFEERNZZE-—NEFREARE A
60,000,000/ 7T °

WZZE—-hFE+—B-++H BE=g=x
SRR R ERR B 58 REE T
TEFEZRAZ+—HULEFERMNPHKE
4 #£15,000,0008 7 (ZZF —1F : §) °

EXefEaRNBE_ZT_ZTF=H
=t BUEFENRYEE -

BRER

RARBEEABEFESRELRAEFT)
AR QR BB AR F12,100,000%8
7T (ZZF— % 159,728,000 7T) A &
B 2 17 % 3@ A% hn#& F 9 21,000,000,000
B (ZZF— L5 804,794,5210%) 5+ & -
AAFRBE_ZE-_EER_T—NLE=
B=+—8 - FE I &) B n] 85
e A BREFRFNETGRERZF
B8R °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 1% - BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture
improvements Properties equipment  and fixtures Total
RENELEE n% BERZE ZARBELE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR FiEL TEL TR
At 1 April 2018 RZZ2-NEWA-A
Cost KA 23,049 - 10,051 4,903 38,003
Accumulated depreciation 2HME (14,010) - (3,774) (2,037) (19,821)
Net carrying amount Em¥E 9,039 - 6,277 2,866 18,182
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-E-NE
ZAZt-ALEE
Opening net carrying amount ENEEFE 9,039 - 6,277 2,866 18,182
Additions RE 11,414 - 3,364 2,188 16,966
Written off/disposals Wi/ e (120) - (442) (234) (796)
Depreciation e (7,964) - (2,286) (1,110) (11,360)
Closing net carrying amount EREEFE 12,369 - 6,913 3,710 22,992
At 31 March 2019 RZE-AE=A=1-H
Cost WA 33,012 - 12,287 6,673 51,972
Accumulated depreciation 2HTE (20,643) - (5,374) (2,963) (28,980)
Net carrying amount FEEE 12,369 - 6,913 3,710 22,992
Adoption of HKFRS16 (Note 2(a)) RRBERUHREEL
E16% (Wi2() (1,089) 156,474 - - 155,385
At 1 April 2019 RZE-hLEMA-H 11,280 156,474 6,913 3,710 178,377
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE-E2-8%
ZAZT-ALEE
Opening net carrying amount FNEEFE 11,280 156,474 6,913 3,710 178,377
Additions NE 9,450 133,368 6,592 2,657 152,067
Written off/disposals e/ e (779) - (508) (854) (2,141)
Lease modification HEBX - 37,565 - - 37,565
Depreciation ik (8,246) (110,744) (2,825) (1,336) (123,151)
Closing net carrying amount FRETTE 11,705 216,663 10,172 417 22,117
At 31 March 2020 R-B-2£=H=+-R
Cost WA 36,701 328,788 17,520 7,184 390,193
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (24,99) (112,125) (7,348) (3,007) (147,476)
Net carrying amount BHE 11,705 216,663 10172 4177 22,117
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Right-of-use assets

As at 31 March 2020, right-of-use assets of
HK$216,663,000 (Note 16) were included in the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment.

Included within additions in 2020 are additions under
leasing arrangements amounting to HK$133,368,000
as disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

LEASES

HKFRS 16 was adopted on 1 April 2019 without
restatement of comparative figures. For an explanation
of the transitional requirements that were applied as at 1
April 2019, see Note 2(a). The accounting policies applied
subsequent to the date of initial application, 1 April 2019,
are disclosed in note 4(d).

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group entered into various lease agreements for office
premises and retail shops. These leases have remaining
non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 to 6 years. All
leases held by the Group comprise fixed payments over
the lease term or contingent rent based on turnover of the
respective retail shops for the month.

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying assets is as follows:

15.

16.

M- BEN&E(E)
EHEEE

R-BE-_TFE=A=+—0 THAEEE
216,663,000 7T (FisE16) Thst A % -
BB MR EERTEE -

RZZFZTFFARERNOFIERGRE M
BT 16 BEBEREELZE THRE
133,368,000 7T °

HE

ERMBHMELERNESRENR T —NF
MA—BERA sttt \EI L BREF -
BREER T NEFHA—BREAN
BERENFA - FRME20) RERE
REH(CZE-NFOA-R)KEANS
FTBUR T M S A(d) B B -

HEEHNMHE (FRABEA)

AEERNTZERRENERTEEW
HEW# - xFHERR T &N A JEHEHEH
NF1E6F - ARBEMFENEEDFH
REHAANBEEN KK RETEEHE A
EXREENIRESE -

WHEBEERRE DN RREERES
BOMET

2020 2019
—ECRF —E-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Properties leased for own use, carried at TAE{EE B -
depreciated cost RATE KA BR 216,663 156,474
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L _-FF=H=+—HILFZ

16. LEASES (Cont’d) 16. HE (&)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) HETHMNMEE EAERBAN) (E)
(Cont’d)
Properties
LY
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—NhFHMA—H 156,474
Additions NE 133,368
Depreciation e (110,744)
Lease modification HE BN 37,565
At 31 March 2020 W_ZE_TF=A=+—H 216,663
The Group elected to include the right-of-use assets within AEBEEEREAREES AR —MAYIE
the same line item as that within which the corresponding BN MEHEHEENHEEEERZY -
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
Lease liabilities HESE
Properties
LY
HK$'000
AT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-—NLFMNA—H 158,089
Additions NE 132,909
Interest expenses FE R 8,350
Lease payments HERE (110,131)
Lease modification HEEN 37,565
At 31 March 2020 W_ZE_TF=A=+—H 226,782
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

16. LEASES (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

16. HE (&)

HERE#E)

EREHIERET

Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2020 2020
REHERE FI 2 BE
—EZEF —EC2F —ERF
=ZA=+-H =ZA=+-B =ZA=+-H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
FHET FHET FE T
Not later than one year TBR —F 125,285 6,259 119,026
Later than one year and BN —FETERME
not later than two years 82,186 2,474 79,712
Later than two years and not ERRFEBTERAF
later than five years 27,248 864 26,384
More than five years AFMUE 1,680 20 1,660
236,399 9,617 226,782
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
1 April 2019 1 April 2019 1 April 2019
IR & IR ME RE
—E-NF —E-NEF —E-NEF
MmA—H mA—H mA—HA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAT
Not later than one year TER—F 79,607 4,564 75,043
Later than one year and B —FETEBRME
not later than two years 63,462 1,962 61,500
Later than two years and not  ERMFEETERAFE
later than five years 21,872 326 21,546
164,941 6,852 158,089
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative Mt RAEEERBRFZELIEREREBHBR

effect approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative
information as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated and the
Group did not have any finance lease liability as at 31 March 2019.
See Note 2(a) for further details about transition.

SERAE16  URABR -_ZF-NFHA—R
SR - ATERE SRR IEE B 25T 2R
FITRORREEHENEERENEESR
B-RZE-NF=ZA=+—-BHNLREFY
#8585 MAKER-Z-AF=A=+—H
TEEFAREEERE FHBENE—FF
B R EE2() °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

16. LEASES (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

The present value of future lease payments are analysed
as:

6. HE (&)

HERE#E)

AKBEEFRENREDIFTLT :

2020 2019
—EEF —ZET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Current liabilities mEAaE 119,026 75,043
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 107,756 83,046
226,782 158,089
Operating leases - lessee BEHE - AN

The Group, as the lessee, had future aggregate minimum
lease payments in respect of rental premises under
non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 March 2019 are
as follows:

AEERERABRAN R -_ZE-NLF=H
ST HERBETAAHEEHERTEEY
EATAERENRKKEREFREBENT

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FAET

Not later than one year

TER—F
Later than one year but not later than five years BR —EETEBR EE

100,162
82,580

182,742

The above lease commitments do not include
commitments for additional rentals payables, if any,
when turnover of individual retail stores exceeds a
pre-determined level as it is not possible to determine in
advance the amount of such additional rentals.

FPRBEAEYTEREEERNTE/EFHN
EXEBBREKFRAINNEINES
APE(A)  RERTAIREALEES W
BINEE SR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

17. INVENTORIES 17. ZE
2020 2019
—E-EE —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiET
Finished goods BURK G 135,755 132,839
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES B S ERFE
2020 2019
—R_oRF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EWRoE 2,488 5,419

Trade receivables mainly represent the outstanding
amounts receivable by the Group from Octopus Cards
Limited and credit card companies. The settlement terms
with credit card companies and octopus card sales are
usually within two business days after the date on which
the sales are made. No credit term has been granted to
any customers of the retail stores.

BHREFETZRAKERK/N\EBR
BRARREEARARNREKE - F
BRARRNEBRHENGEHNABES
FHEEEREMEZXAARN - HEQT
EEHNEMEERTEEY -

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables based REENZEHEWRBEREZAHTE
on invoice date is as follows: BEREC AT T

2020 2019
—BCEF —F-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT
0-30 days 0%230H 2,251 5,414
31-60 days 31£260H 53 2
61-90 days 61290H 180 1
Over 90 days BB H 4 2
2,488 5,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

e M BwRNEE

18.

19.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 18. E5BIWRRIE (&)
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables based REBENE HRYGIBERIBABEAERN
on due date is as follows: REITAT -
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Neither past due nor impaired B AR 780 R 7R AR R E 2,249 5,410
Not more than 3 months past due AEAT B E3E A 235 7
More than 3 months past due i B R B 3 1A A 4 2
2,488 5,419

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

19. B ~ AN RER H LB WFRIE

2020 2019
—EEE —ZT-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Non-current: JEFRE
Deposits e 39,683 31,627
Deposits paid for purchase of property, BAVE  BENMREN
plant and equipment [EENE &0 800 712
40,483 32,339
Current: mE
Prepayments BT FRIE 18,230 14,694
Deposits Be 17,612 16,824
Other receivables Hh jE W IE 5,608 3,856
41,450 35,374

EHRLEER RERYEETEERS -
RZZTZTF=A=+—H8 AEEDHZ
& N E A MR R H TR R (E

The balances were unsecured, interest-free and with no
fixed repayment terms. The Group’s deposits and other
receivables were neither past due nor impaired as at 31
March 2020.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

20. & RIVITHEER

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Pledged bank deposits BEMIRITER - 5,115
Cash at banks BITIRE 215,051 270,927
Cash in hand FEEIRS 860 1,352
215,911 272,279

215,911 277,394

The pledged bank deposits, cash at bank and in hand are
denominated in the following currencies:

EEMBITER  RITRELFHERSNU
THERE

2020 2019

—E-EH —ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FAT

Hong Kong dollars &L 210,317 276,419
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARE]) 130 135
United States dollars (“US$") EZx([Ex]) 326 29
Euro BX T 92 769
Macau Pataca (“MOP") EPFITT (DRFT)) 4,987 -
Other currencies Hith &5 ¥ 59 42
215,911 277,394

At 31 March 2019, pledged bank deposits were
denominated in HK$ and pledged as collaterals to secure
bank borrowings and general banking facilities granted to
the Group (Note 23). The pledged bank deposits carried
interest at 1.38%, per annum during the year ended 31
March 2019.

RZZE-—NF=ZA=+—8 2EBHET
FRABTTAHE  LERIEAREER T
BERTTIE RN —RIRITEE IR & (0
iH23) BE-T-NAF=ZA=1+—H8lL
FE - D EWBITERIZF N E1.38%T

B o

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

21. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 21. IREEFREH
The analysis of deferred income tax assets of the Group is REERNBELERMSHEESTAOT -
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Deferred income tax assets to be 1 PR R 38 1218 A 1% W=l Y
recovered after more than 12 months BEFREHERE 1,496 1,312
Movements in deferred income tax assets of the Group RAFERBAEFERNRNEENRELENS
during the current and prior year are as follows: MEEZEBWT
Decelerated tax
depreciation
WEBIETE
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 April 2018 R-Z2-N\FHEA—-H 748
Credited to the consolidated statement of SFAGEEREMEEKER
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 564
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-ZE-hhE=A=+—-HBEK
—E-hFMA—H 1,312
Credited to the consolidated statement of FFAGREERREMEEmKEE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 184
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZB-ZBF=A=+—H 1,496
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND 2. B ENREUREFERREM
OTHER PAYABLES FE A FRIE
(a) Trade payables (a) EFENRE
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables ARENBSENFEERERAH
based on invoice date is as follows: AEMREDTT
2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
0-30 days 0£30H 19,727 18,933
31-60 days 31260H 10,343 6,506
61-90 days 61290H 355 1,150
Over 90 days H#E90H 606 366
31,031 26,955
(b) Accruals and other payables (b) EFHERARHEMEN TR
2020 2019
—ECRHF —E-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Current: E
Accruals for employee benefit expenses FE&H{E 8 18 FIF &2 12,309 15,332
Accruals for rental expenses EETEESMX 3,043 5,880
Accruals for logistic expenses FEET M m B X 4,582 2,412
Contract liabilities in relation to WM R 2R
customer loyalty programme ERBE M iEeE)
(Note () 238 433
Accruals for operating and other a2 N EMEAY
expenses 1,901 1,460
Accruals for property, plant and Bt BEMEKEBEA
equipment 638 76
Contract liabilities in relation to FRBESENENEE
cash coupon (Note (d) and (e)) (H () K e) 152 33
Provision for reinstatement costs BB A ANBEE (K3 (c))
(Note (c)) 700 765
23,563 26,391
Non-current: FERE :
Provision for reinstatement costs BIERAREE (Hitc)
(Note (c)) 2,229 1,865
Accruals for rental expenses FEErE e - 1,740
2,229 3,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND

OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(c) Provision for reinstatement costs

(d)

Movements in the provision for reinstatement costs

are as follows:

FEAYFRIR (48)

() BERFERE

22. BEZBRAEURETERAREA

EEXRAREEBEESIT

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET
At beginning of year REA 2,630 1,990
Provision for reinstatement costs 1E18 Ak AN B 459 800
Utilisation of provision for B RIS 1B P A B
reinstatement costs (160) (160)
At end of year RER 2,929 2,630
Contract liabilities in relation to cash coupon (d PRESHFHNEHNEE
Movements in the contract liabilities in relation to BRIESHFNENBEZHHT -
cash coupon are as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
At beginning of year REA 33 709
Issued during the year FRNEST 122 512
Expired during the year F A EIH 3) (296)
Redeemed during the year FR IR - (892)
At end of year REX 152 33

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited € R 360Z R B R 2 &
Annual Report 2019/2020 FE %

161
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND 22.
OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(e) Contract liabilities (e)

The Group has recognised the following revenue
related contract liabilities:

BRAEE

BEZRMNREAURETERAREA
FEASRRIE (4F)

AEECHEAA TRAEEAOARE:

2020 2019
b St —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT
Contract liabilities in relation to HREREHNTEN

customer loyalty programme EHAE 238 433

Contract liabilities in relation to PRBEEFNEHNEE
cash coupon 152 33
390 466

The contract liabilities represented the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied as of the
end of the year. The Group expects the transaction
price allocated to the unsatisfied performance
obligations will be recognised as revenue when
the award points in relation to customer loyalty
programme and the cash coupon are redeemed.

BHABEIEESEENFRRENX
MEANETHNRXZEREE AEH
B PREEZFRERENEED
RHEREREE DB ENEER
DRBEHFEABEERBUA -

The following table shows the revenue recognised TRETARABREHEBRELIRE
in the current reporting period related to FEEBEEOBA
carried-forward liabilities:
2020 2019
—ECEH —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T
For the year REE
Revenue recognised that was included s+ AFHAE L BB
in the contract liabilities at beginning 2 R W A
of the year
— Retailing sales —TEHE 436 1,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z—

e M BwRNEE

F_FFZH=+—HIFE

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND 22.

OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(e) Contract liabilities (Cont’d)

BEZRNREAURETERR A
P FRIR (4F)

(e) BHEMEHE)

The following table shows unsatisfied performance TRETTEHENRENBHNET
obligations resulting from retailing sales:
2020 2019
—EZEBF —NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
At end of year RER
Expected to be recognised within TEEIR —F AR
one year 390 466
23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITIE R
2020 2019
—E-EHE ZZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current: BIHA :
Secured interest-bearing bank borrowings B st BIR1TE X
Repayable within one year HAR—FAER 79,242 35,859
Non-current: JEENHR :
Secured interest-bearing bank borrowings B K5t B R1TIE &K
Repayable between one and two years R—EWMFANEER 20,300 17,616
Repayable between two and five years RZERFANEER = 20,300
20,300 37,916
Bank borrowings bear interest at floating interest rates. RITEFIREDMNEAR -BE_ZT_F

The effective interest rates of bank borrowings are ranging
from HIBOR plus 1.4% to 2.0% (2019: HIBOR plus 1.4%
to 2.0%) per annum for the year ended 31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings and other
banking facilities of the Group are secured by:

(i) pledge of bank deposits (Note 20) held by the
Group with carrying amount of HK$Nil (2019:
HK$5,115,000) as at 31 March 2020; and

(i) the corporate guarantee provided by the Company
and a subsidiary.

FZA=+—HILEFE RITEINER
FENFEHERITRAEFREMEFET 4%
£2.0% (ZF—NF : BERITAEFE
MEFEIA%E2.0%) °

R-ZF_FF=ZA=1+—8 AEERTT
AR R EMRITRE AT IR B (EE M -

() EEER-_Z-_ZTF=-A=+—H
BEBIT(ZZF—NHF 5,115,000
J0) AR E TR T R (K 5T
20) + &

(i) ARER—FEHRBRBRMENEERE
& e
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, R
Number Amount
oA 8
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: SETE
At 1 April 2018 —E-N\FMA—H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital (note (a)) EANEE IR (B it(a)) 9,962,000,000 99,620
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and RZE-NE=RA=+—H"
31 March 2020 ZE-NFOA-BK
—Z-TF=A=1+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\FHA—H 1,000,000 -
Issue of shares pursuant to the reorganisation 1R 1% E 4 21T 1D (H752(b))

(note (b)) 1,000,000 20
Capitalisation issue (note (c)) B BT (7)) 748,000,000 7,480
Issue of shares upon share offer (note (d)) E R EEmEETRG (Hitd) 250,000,000 2,500
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and RZZE—hhF=A=+—H "

31 March 2020 —E-AFOA-BR

—E-EF=A=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000

Notes:

(o)

On 18 December 2018, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 ordinary
shares to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary
shares by the creation of an additional 9,962,000,000 ordinary
shares.

On 15 December 2018, the Company acquired the entire
issued shares of Quality Food 360° from Mr. Lin and Ms. Hui in
consideration for the allotment and issue of 1,000,000 ordinary
shares, credited as fully paid and the credit as fully paid the
1,000,000 ordinary shares on the incorporation of the Company. The
Company nominated Best Mart 360 International Limited (“Best Mart
BVI”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as the registered
shareholder of the two issued shares in Quality Food 360° upon
completion of the acquisition.

Pursuant to the written resolutions of all shareholders of the
Company passed on 18 December 2018, the Directors were
authorised to capitalise the amount of HK$7,480,000 from the share
premium account of the Company by applying such sum towards
the paying up in full at par of 748,000,000 ordinary shares for the
allotment of ordinary shares.

Biat -

(a)

RZZE—NF+ZA+NB RRARAWNEE
A% AN 3% 3B 1 389,962,000,0000% I i@ f% - &
380,000/ 7T (9 £38,000,000% & 3@ %) # iN %=
100,000,000 7© (% 410,000,000,0000% & i@
f%) °

RZZE—N\E+ZA+HB  AARAMKEE
B+ WEER360° RAD D EITRD
REBUARIER R B3 R BT
1,000,000/ & i@ Ak + I 7 28 22 &) 5 B Sz R
#1,000,000/% F @R ABRINIEZE - AR AR
W BTk 18 IR B 1B Mm360BB AR QA ([E &
360 ]) B MREM360° BRMEFETRGD
M E R o

BRERZZ—\F+ZA+N\BBENERFZ
BRENEEAEER  ESERBBAQRRG
i {8 BE AP AY3E BR © 537,480,000/ TR A AN
FERK%ESEREREERE748,000,000
% m AR R B ABC B T mA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &

e M BwRNEE

E-F-FF=A=+—AILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

25.

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)  Upon listing, the Company issued 250,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$1 per share pursuant to the share
offer and listing of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange.

RESERVES

Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves are as

set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

24. B (&)

25.

Wizt (&)
(d) LWk ARBERIBDEERAR BB B

R EmmiR SR 1T /B E£17250,000,000
&R EE0.01B T LB -

e

AEBRERDHERRGAESEDE
Mo ARFEBEBNT :

Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
R0 %E RitEE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—-—NFMUA—H - - -
Loss and total comprehensive income  FEBELKEE
for the year Wz 4888 - (443) (443)
Issue of shares pursuant to the RIEBEHZEITRG
reorganisation (note 24(b)) (Htst24(b)) 122,594 - 122,594
Capitalisation issue (note 24(c)) B EAT (1 5224(c)) (7,480) - (7,480)
Issue of shares upon share offer AR (7 8 & 21T (9
(note 24(d)) (KtEt24(d) 247,500 - 247,500
Share issue expenses R ETHRE (13,330) - (13,330)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-LF
—A=+—H 349,284 (443) 348,841
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 AT —h4F
ZA=+-RBR
—E-AFMA—B 349,284 (443) 348,841
Profit and total comprehensive FREEANRZERSEEE
income for the year - 12,431 12,431
Dividend paid (note 13) BRRE (HiE13) - (75,000) (75,000)
At 31 March 2020 —E-TF=ZA=+—H 349,284 (63,012) 286,272
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

FFEZA=1—HIFE

25. RESERVES (Cont’d)

25. 1w (&)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each UTHliEE AN SRENEE X F

reserve within owners’ equity.

Reserves

@

Description and purpose
Rk A%

Share premium

Other reserve

H k8

Retained earnings

RE &R

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued at a premium, less the amount
of expenses incurred in connection with the issue of the shares.

B A7 4 (B A2 18 AN 2 AR A7 DA V4 (8 3577 B W R O BT 45 SRR A8 AR £ T 18 9 B
B OWHRETROMEENRX -

The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
total equity of the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the
subsidiaries pursuant to the reorganisation where the transfer of the
subsidiaries to the Company are satisfied by issue of new shares from the
Company.
AEENHMEHERRBARSIMBRAANEREREZMNBERARN SR
R ZRE st RESHEBRHBERAR TARANEREARF %*‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁx
K e

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

RIBsS AR K R AT e MEBEFHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

26. COMMITMENTS 26. EIE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BARKIE
2020 2019
It 32 —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Commitments for acquisition of BEWE BEK
property, plant and equipment 5% Y I 500 412
(b) Other commitments (b) Hib&iE
2020 2019
—EEF —E-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET AT
Service expenses for using the AR MFEERIEN
operating facilities of warehouse: AR 7% B %
Not later than one year TER—F 8,537 11,363
Later than one year and
not later than five years BR—FEMNERASF = 8,537
8,537 19,900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

27. NP A BB AR R TR

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ioka FHET THET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RHTEBRARRRE 28 122,614 122,614
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment B RIE 636 129
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG | 172,765 65,915
Cash and bank balances 8% MIRTT 4 64 314 170,183
173,715 236,227
Current liability REBEE
Accruals fEstE A 57 -
Net current assets MEEEFE 173,658 236,227
Net assets EEFE 296,272 358,841
EQUITY v
Equity attributable to owners of XD FHEE AEGERS
the Company
Share capital R& X 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves & 25 286,272 348,841
Total equity B 296,272 358,841
On behalf of the Directors of the Company REARAESE:
Lin Tsz Fung Hui Ngai Fan
T RE €2
Director Director
EZE EZE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z—

%";_IE'_A

Fof %5 3R 2% P

F_FFZH=+—HIFE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020

are as follows:

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Country and date of
incorporation and form

28. NI B~ A AV

RZEZTF=A=
UNSIES (N

Issued and fully

paid up share capital/ Attributable

=
+—

NSy

Name of business structure  registered capital equity interests  Principal activities
AMRLER  IMAL ERTRBZRE/
A% BARAARBEE EMER P4 B IREBREEHMEAR
Direct Indirect
EE CIk:3
Best Mart BVI BVI, 23 February 2018 Us$1 100% - Investment holding in BVI
1B 3608 & limited liability 1570 FEBARIHERY
company REZRR
REEARES
-NEZA
Z+=H BRAF
Quiality Food 360° BVI, 25 April 2013, Uss$2 - 100%  Investment holding in BVI
Bm360° B limited liability 2ETT FEBHARRHELY
company REZR
REEBARES
—E-=%mNA
Z+HABRAF
Best Mart 360 Macau BVI, 14 March 2019 Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding in BVI
Holdings Limited limited liability EF ERBABREELE
EBm360RMIERAR R company REEKR
RELBARES
—NE=A
TIA - BRAF
Best Mart 360 China BVI, 8 November 2019, ~ US$1 - 100% Investment holding in BVI
Holdings Limited limited liability EF ERBABREBLE
Bm360hEZERER R Company RERR
AEEBARES
—NE+—A

NR - BRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020
are as follows: (Cont’d)

Country and date of  Issued and fully
incorporation and form paid up share capital/

Attributable

28. RMIEB R RIMNER (&)

RZBE-ZFEE=A=+—0 AXQAFIHEB
NEFBWT - (&)

Name of business structure  registered capital equity interests  Principal activities
AMALER  IMAL ERTREAZRE
a8 FARARARBER HEMER [ 3 IREBREEREAR
Indirect
&
CIAQ International Limited Hong Kong, 14 December HK$20,000 100%  Retailing of food and
YERBRAR AT 2012, limited liability 20,0007 7T beverage, household
company and personal care
EH —T——F products under the
+-A+mA- "Best Mart 360°" (&
ARAA #1360°) brand stores in
Hong Kong
1E% [ Best Mart 360"
(Bm360°) Imi& /54
ETRMRARM RE
REAERERTE
Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Hong Kong, 25 HK$1 100%  Investment holding in
Limited November 2019, 1% Hong Kong
Bm360FEBR A limited liability EEBRERERR
company
B8 “FNE
+—A=-+ER"
ARAF

170
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e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020

are as follows: (Cont’d)

Country and date of
incorporation and form

28. RMEB R RIMNER (&)

RZEBE-ZFEE=A=+—0 ~XAFIHEB
NEFHBWT (&)

Issued and fully

paid up share capital/ Attributable

Name of business structure  registered capital equity interests  Principal activities
AMRLER  IMAL ERTREBZRE
L FHRARARBER AMER [ 3 IREBREEREAR
Direct Indirect
E# &
Best Mart 360 Macau Limited ~ Macau, 21 May 2019, MOP25,000 - 100%  Retailing of food and
BR360RFAR AT limited liability 25,0002 9 7T beverage, household
company and personal care
P ZT-NEF products under the
RAZT—8" “Best Mart 360°" ({2
ARAH #1360°) brand store in
Macau
1E % [Best Mart 360°
(Bm360°) ) m e &
ETRmEH SR
XEREAERE®
ZE
Shenzhen Best Mart 360 The People’s Republic of  HK$10,000,000 - 100%  Inactive
Commerce Limited China, 24 December 10,000,000 7T NaE

R EREETHE
BRRA

2019, a wholly
foreign-owned
enterprise
hEARAME -
—T-NE
TZAZtmE
WEBERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DS R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #t % — FF=HA=4—HIFFEF

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following

29. BELTRS
(a) BEFXS

BRANER A M IS IRARE

L

SRR EE

Hh - FRAEBEERESA TIEKR

material transactions with related parties during the 5
year:
Name of related parties Nature of transaction 2020 2019
BELER XHME p S 353 —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THIT
Giant Fame Corporation Limited Lease payment 875 900
("Giant Fame”) (Note (i)
BEER AR DR (THesE 1) (A a2()) HEMIA
United Wealth Global (HK) Limited Lease payment 18 660
(Note (if))
BrEIRIR (BB) BR QR (B 72i) HE A
Smart Essence Development Limited Lease payment 598 632
(“Smart Essence”) (Note (iii))
EEERBRAR (TRE]) (H20)) MERA
1,491 2,192
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 2. BEARS (&)
(a) Related party transactions (Cont’d) (a) BEAXREZ (&)
Name of related parties Nature of transaction 2020 2019
BESEE REME —EEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH& T FHET
Giant Fame (Note (i) Acquire of right-of-use 2,718 -
Be 82 () assets
W REEE
Smart Essence (Note (iii) Acquire of right-of-use 1,077 -
A& (I At i) assets
W REEE
3,795 -
Notes: Btat -

(i) Giant Fame is controlled by Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the
Company.

(i) Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company, has significant
influence over United Wealth Global (HK) Limited.

(iii) ~ Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company, has significant
influence over Smart Essence.

(i)

(iii)

MESRA AR R B E AP — R EEMEAERS] -

ARRER—ZEEMAEEHBERR

(BE)VERRBEEERTES -

AARAER—REEMEELHREREE
TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-F_-FF = H=+—HIFFZE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 2. BEARS (&)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) TEEBAEEHH
Remuneration for key management personnel of REBFEBFEASHEHH (2IEH
the Group, including amounts paid to the executive F1EQFEBRE N ARANITESH
directors of the Company as disclosed in Note 11(a), SR
is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FH&T
Directors’ fees EEwe — -
Short-term benefits HARE A 7,078 5,981
Post-employment benefits BEEE 21T 140 129
7,218 6,110
30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. RERETHEMEEREMAE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY W=
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost EHEE (RBERKEIAR)
Trade receivables g S EWE 2,488 5,419
Deposits and other receivables R4 N E b fE YL 8 62,904 52,307
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEES 215,911 277,394
281,303 335,120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z—

e M BwRNEE

F_FFZH=+—HIFE

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. BERE e REERSREE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BE (&)
(Cont’d)
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost SREE (RBHERAEAR)
Trade payables B S ENIE 31,031 26,955
Accruals and other payables FEET B A I H h E A 5RIE 22,562 23,490
Bank borrowings HRITE N 99,542 73,775
Lease liabilities HEA®E 226,782 -
379,917 124,220

31.

The directors of the Company considers the carrying value
of financial instruments approximates their fair value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s business
are credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and

interest rate risk.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is
the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances,
and trade and other receivable. The Group has no
concentration of credit risk from third party debtors.

As at 31 March 2020, substantially all of the Group’s
bank deposits were deposited with major financial
institutions in Hong Kong and Macau, which
management believes are of high-credit-quality
without significant credit risk.

31.

ARAREEFRAETRMITANKFEERARD
FEEE

R ES
%$%E%%$LE¢FEQ$$I%
9|\’H€<H &%UTH

ZERRZ T XA m AN S B B 5B R I
R BB PR -

(a) EERK

A& E L5 B R R AT S A & = AR
SREENRe RRITERARES
KB YRR BREE - NRE I
BRAF=TEBANEERTER

E’\\_g_ $ZHE+*E NS
BRI RITERIFRNEEER
D/\ﬁmf*f\féﬁﬁlﬂﬁﬂiﬁ{m
ERBOBEERMZIESREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

All of the Group’s trade receivables and other
receivables have no collateral. The Group assessed
the credit quality of the counterparties by taking into
account their financial position, credit history and
other factors. Management also regularly reviews
the recoverability of these receivables and follow
up the disputes or amounts overdue, if any. The
Directors are of the opinion that the risk of default by
counterparties is low.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information.

- HBERBRERE(E)

(a) FERRE)

REBAEE S RUYGRIA R E YK
PR EE M  AREEREF A
MBI - EELHEREMBEE -
NRHEREEE = - EEEE R
A FRYGREMAKRERE - WR
EFFZABHKE(WMB) - EER
B BHFINENRRRKE -

AEERMEEREERSEERED
FIRTREME - W& &S PR EFAE
ERaE BRERN - RFFBEER
RELBREEM AEBEBEERR
T EHELEZONRER BN IEHER
FHMENRRETLER - AEEE
ZRAGNAEMAFIENATE L
BFt e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BwRNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The Group
always measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL. The ECL on trade receivables is estimated
by reference to past default experience of
the debtor and current market condition in
relation to each debtor’s exposure. The ECL also
incorporates forward-looking information with
reference to general macroeconomic conditions
that may affect the ability of the debtors to
settle receivables. To measure the ECL, the trade
receivables have been grouped based on share
credit risk characteristics and the days past due
according to the ageing as disclosed in note 18.
Expected loss rate of current trade receivables
are assessed to be 0.1% as the trade receivables
mainly represent amounts due from Octopus
Cards Limited and credit card companies with
high credit rating and no history of default.
For the past due trade receivables, due to the
balances were immaterial, the management
of the Group considered the loss allowance
provision for these balances were immaterial.
There is no change in the ECL rate for trade
receivables during the years mainly due to no
significant change in the historical default rates
of trade receivables based on which the ECL rate
is determined. The management of the Group
considered the loss allowance provision for trade
receivables was immaterial during the year ended
31 March 2020 (2019: immaterial).

3. I ERERE (&)
(a) EERAR(EZ)
() EZEWKE

AEEREHEEBENRET
REAB BN RS ERFH
FRETRAM R 5 5 0% « sZ BRI EET
HMEE SRR ERBEZHE
HEBERE AEEMTENE
5 EWGRIEM BB B EE L TR
ER2HEREERESE - &
SEBGRIENTEREEEE 2
EEMEBEHBANBTEENLCHER
BREBAERZRBRAENE A
MBS R MG - BEEEEE
MERMEMHER  ERREF
HEBAE N ERGRIERRE I
REENBELEEBLERRL - B
AERHEEEE  BZREKK
B T3 B MY SR 18P IR R MO BR AR T
BEXREERBRSEREEX
HEITHE - AR E HEWIE
FEREBRNEBRERAAK
EEARAR(EERARIARS
EE TR R E L) KR
I WANERE 5 FEUGRIE M TE HR
BRI EAR0.1% ° SLEEE
SEWFIENS AREHILT
BR BMAKBEEEERA%ZSE
BHRNEBEBETIRETERX -
FRNESHERFENEHEES
BERWEZE  RAESETEEH
EEEBEMKENE S EUGK
ERAENERTESNEE - K
EEEBRERE  BHREKFE
WEBBETIREREE_ZS=F
FZA=ZT—HLEFEATTE
K(ZE—NF: FTEK) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIS AR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Other receivables

As at 31 March 2020, the management of the
Group takes into account the historical default
experience and forward-looking information, as
appropriate, for example the Group considers
the consistently low historical default rates
of counterparties, and concludes that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other
receivables is insignificant. The management of
the Group has assessed that other receivables
do not have a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition and risk of default
is insignificant, therefore the ECL for these
receivables were immaterial under the 12
months expected loss method and no loss
allowance was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

A g ()
(a) EEERE)

(i) EmEWE

RZE_TF=A=+—H K
SEEREGRAEEBEED
LBELAEEER  20mE
AEEERUFHBEROE
FERE  TREERBR/EAE
18] 1) R 45 O HL At B W R TR Y [E
BEERRY TEE AEEE

BREDEHEMERFIENEE
[\ ez B )45 B R DA PR I 488 R o 4
MEGE QR T EE - Bt
ZERYFIENEREEBER
B2 AFEBEEEL TEX
YREBE-_FT-_FF=A=1+—
B IEFE AR E RS
(ZF—N%F &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 31. B ERER (&)
(b) Liquidity risk (b) RBELRR

The Group'’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity REENBKEEEHERARSDES
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient Zk o UHEREHFEHNIR©HEE
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements EENHEHRRARSESTRK -
in the short and long term. The management of the RAREEEEMRNEBEKEMIEE
Company is satisfied that the Group will be able to BEBBARPBITERARGRIE
meet in full its financial obligations as and when WETBMBEM - TRAFLAEERSD
they fall due in the foreseeable future in the normal MEERSREHRNBTELOI
course of business. The following table details the R HDERGORMBERESRE
remaining contractual maturities at the end of each (BREAASHOMNEHESL (KHRTF
reporting period of the Group's financial liabilities, B))RmE AN ETEDR
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash B RAEEAIEANRN KT
flows (including interest payment computed using HEf -

contractual rates or, if floating, based on the current
rates at the reporting date) and the earliest date the
Group may be required to pay.

Total
contractual Within Within
Carrying undiscounted Tyearor 2 years to
amount cash flow  on demand 5years Over 5 years

BHRER 15R3
FHE HeREAH EEX 2Z58R SENLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR S TET TAT Tin

At 31 March 2020 R-Z-RF

=ZR=1-H
Trade payables BHERTE 31,031 31,031 31,031 - -
Accruals and other payables T BARAMENFE 22,562 22,562 22,562 - -
Bank borrowings BITER 99,542 100,372 79,974 20,398 -
Lease liablities RERE 2678 236399 125285 109,434 1,680

379,917 390,364 258,852 129,832 1,680
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2=

—FEFZA=+—HUFE

(b)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) R EREIE (&)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d) (b) REBESEK (&)
Total
contractual Within Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or 2 years to
amount cash flow  on demand 5 years
CEREN: 3 1R
REE ReRELE EZx 2255 R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT TEL TEL TAL
At 31 March 2019 R-B-1%
=A=t+-H
Trade payables ZHENTE 26,955 26,955 26,955 -
Accruals and other payables it ERAREMERTE 23,490 23,490 23,490
Bank borrowings WITRET 73,775 76,247 37,200 39,047
124,220 126,692 87,645 39,047
Foreign currency risk (o) HERBE

(c)

(d)

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong and Macau
with most of the transactions settled in HK$ and
MOP. As MOP is pegged to HK$, the Group believes
that it did not have significant exposure to risk
resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates
principally to its bank deposits, pledged bank deposits
and interest-bearing bank borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk. The Group has not entered
into any financial derivative instruments to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk. The Group’s policy is
to manage its interest rate risk, working within an
agreed framework, to ensure that there are no unduly
exposures to significant interest rate movements.

(d)

REBFERBBRBPUE S
HREBARZXZABTRRFITHEE -
BRI TEABTHS  NEEME
& Bl EINEE R 5ol
B EKER -

A 2R @ ke

AEBEE MM RREREZREIRT
73 B ERRITER LG BRITE
KB - AN RERNERS

SEEHRSRENERER - NEE
WETZEFSBITETARERE
FRE R - KB HBER R E
MEREBEMERR - LERTE
A BEENEANEZEHER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-—F_-FF = H=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's financial instruments at the end of each
reporting period:

. B

fERE (&)

(d) R=E@EKE)

TRFAAEESH T ARSI REN
REOF AR

2020 2019
—g-%% “T-hE
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
per annum HK$'000 per annum HK$'000
BRFR=E TELT ERFNE TET
Fixed-rate bank deposits Bl EFIERITHER 2.03% 148,325 1.50% 170,000
Floating-rate bank deposits FEFEBITER 1.18% 23,378 1.38% 7,042
Floating-rate bank borrowings ¥ &) | & iR 1T 3.60% (99,542) 3.23% (73,775)
Sensitivity analysis BB E 7 HT
At the respective end of each reporting period, it REREER - WHRBEEH T

is estimated that a general increase/decrease of
100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would increase/decrease the
Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 by
approximately HK$603,000 (2019: HK$862,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
to assume that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of each reporting period and
had been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for the bank deposits, pledged bank deposits
and interest-bearing bank borrowings in existence at
that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the next twelve
months period.

The interest rate risk policies have been followed by
the Group consistently throughout the years.

Mmoﬂ%@ﬁ i BT A H fth 2 B 4 5

g A BESAEEREET
_’éﬂz:ﬂ :JF*EJJZQEEE"J/@*'J%
B/ L #9603,00008 7T (Z T — A
4 1 862,000/ 7T) °

FSEES T IIEBREFEEHE
REREHAREE  WEBHANZAE
GHEMRITER BEBERITERE

FFERITEROAERERMERT - £
FHek TRE100MEE R TV E B E 7 X

R = (B A BRI A IR T AL
B -

AEERBEFE -HERENXER
157

o

A
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32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 32. ERERE
The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is AEEEREANEEZEARRAELASE
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going BBERBESEEELENEN WHEK
concern and maximising the return to stakeholders. PRIEH AFFMHET KRB - NEBHEAR
The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and EEEARTFEETTHRANER - A&
managed by the directors of the Company. The Group is ENZINBIEMAERERKPTIR o B#E
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. FAABREAREE  AEEFAAZERRKRE
To maintain or adjust capital structure, the Group may KT EI AR BB ITH AR (D - B E ARNERE1E
adjust dividend payment to shareholders or issue new B A B B AT AR R B S E B B A R
shares. Adjustments will be made to the capital structure ERTENKSBRRECIAEEREE
in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the EWRBREFHIEL -
Company or its subsidiaries, and the risk characteristics of
the Group's underlying assets.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, AEENEARELEER (HPBER
which includes the bank borrowings, lease liabilities, cash TER)  HEAE  RERBITEHKEAR
and bank balance and equity attributable to owners of NAEB AEEER (AP EERAR K
the Company, comprising share capital and reserves. The #) AEENRREREEBTFEBRT—
Group's risk management reviews the capital structure RERER - ERIEBEN—F o B
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the [E & B8 AR AN DA K B2 R4 A AN AR R Y &L
management considers the cost of capital and the risks % o
associated with each class of capital.
The net debt to equity ratio as at the reporting dates is as R EAFEBERERLEENAT -
follows:
2020 2019
—ERCEHE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Bank borrowings RITE N 99,542 73,775
Lease liabilities HEBRE 226,782 -
Less: Cash and bank balances B Re RIBITAR (215,911) (277,394)
Net debt/(cash) FEB(Re) 110,413 (203,619)
Total equity BiEs 306,682 369,582
Net debt to equity ratio FEBE LK 36.0% N/A 38 F
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33. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 3. s RERERMEE
OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BMEETBEENBBENERE

Non-cash changes

FRL28
As at As at
1 April Financing Interest lease  31March
2019 cash flow Addition expenses modification 2020
iy iy
Year ended HZ-2-%F —B-hE BE —BCEE
31 March 2020 ZAZT-HLEE mA-H AeRE wE FEHX BEBH =ZA=1-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TER TER TR

Bank borrowings RITfER 73,775 25,767 - - - 99,542
Other payables HipER TR 165 (2,776) - 2,711 - 100
Lease liabilities HERRE 158,089 (110,131) 132,909 8,350 37,565 226,782
232,029 (87,140) 132,909 11,061 37,565 326,424
Note: The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. Lease liabilities Wit AEEEBZZT—NFHNA—HRENEEH
of HK$158,089,000 were recognised on 1 April 2019 (Note 2 (a)). I EEBE165  c R E—HEMA—H

DR E & E158,089,000/ 7T (Mi7F2(a)) -

Non-cash
changes
0k
As at As at
1 April Financing Interest 31 March
2018 cash flow expenses 2019
BE-F-NE —2-NE A —z-nE
Year ended 31 March 2019 “A=+—HLFE mA—H Reng FEefx =A=+—8H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TAT TAT THT TET

Bank borrowings RITHER 67,555 6,220 - 73,775
Other payables Ho{th & ZUR 66 (3,306) 3,405 165
67,621 2,914 3,405 73,940
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

The outbreak of COVID-19 in January 2020 has
caused disruptions to many industries, including retail
industry in Hong Kong. The effect of the outbreak
has not come to an end after the year end date
and at the date of this report. These disruptions
have inevitably posed a significant threat to the
global economy in 2020. Despite the challenges,
governments and international organisations have
implemented a series of measures to contain the
epidemic. The time duration and scope of these
disruptions cannot be accurately assessed at this
point in time. Given the dynamic nature of these
circumstances, the financial impact will be reflected
in the Group’s subsequent financial statements. The
Group will closely monitor the development of the
epidemic and assess its impact on its operations.

On 22 May 2020, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into a provisional sales
and purchase agreement with certain independent
third parties (“the Vendors”), to acquire a company
engaged in property holding at a cash consideration
of HK$176,862,000. Up to the date of this report,
HK$17,686,200 deposit was paid to the Vendors. The
acquisition is expected to complete on 28 September
2020.

34. HEHREE

(a)

RZZEZTF— FBEEKNCOVID-19%
EEHBASTEXE(LERTEX)
ERTE - BRENFERFEAER
HEAREEBHHATE - BLTE
HEAREE —F - FF2IREE
BREABE - BEEY WIS -
AT 0 B B AR 8 2 B B — R 5] $5 e LA
THIRITIRR S © BB AT
HEETENRTEREFERE -
EREBELRE  BEMBEEER
RASEBETEMBREPRE - KNE
ERERERRITREBEE - LT
HEHEAEEZENTE -

RZZEZEFAAZ+ZH XA H
—EEEEENBAREE TEISE
=HFTEADTLBEEE DR - A
WHE—FHREMEERNOAGF - Be
K 1B 5176,862,000/ Tt ° & & A~
HHH - EHE X% £17,686,200
B BEKEBEERN=-Z=-ZFN
AZ+N\HZEKX °
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